CYCLIN D1: A PUTATIVE KAISO TARGET GENE

CHARACTERIZATION OF *CYCLIN D1* AS A PUTATIVE KAISO TARGET GENE

By

ABENA A. OTCHERE, B.SC.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Master of Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by Abena A. Otchere, May 2006

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2006) (Biology)

McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Characterization of *cyclin D1* as a putative Kaiso target gene

AUTHOR: Abena A. Otchere, B.Sc. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Juliet M. Daniel

NUMBER OF PAGES: xiv, 149

Abstract

Kaiso is a unique member of the BTB/POZ (Broad complex, Tramtrak, Bric à brac,/Pox virus and zinc finger) zinc finger family of transcription factors with established roles in development and tumourigenesis. Kaiso was originally identified as a novel binding partner of the Armadillo catenin p120^{ctn}, a cytosolic co-factor and regulator of the cell-cell adhesion molecule and tumor suppressor E-cadherin. In addition to their roles in cell adhesion, the multifunctional Armadillo catenins also regulate gene expression, thus providing at least two mechanisms for their contribution to tumourigenesis. The discovery of a novel interaction between p120^{ctn} and the transcription factor Kaiso was therefore consistent with gene regulatory roles for Armadillo catenins. Interestingly, Kaiso represses transcription via a sequence-specific DNA binding site (TCCTGCnA) as well as through methylated CpG di-nucleotides, and one role of nuclear p120^{ctn} is to inhibit Kaiso DNA-binding and transcriptional repression. We recently identified sequence-specific Kaiso binding sites in a subset of Wnt/ β -catenin/TCF tumour-associated target genes, and here we present data characterizing cyclin D1 as a putative Kaiso target gene.

Kaiso binds the *cyclin D1* promoter *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and artificial promoter assays revealed that Kaiso overexpression results in the repression of a *cyclin D1* promoter luciferase reporter. Since *cyclin D1* is highly amplified in ~50% of human breast tumours, and a cancer profiling array demonstrated that Kaiso is misexpressed in ~40% of human breast tumours, we hypothesized that Kaiso represses and regulates *cyclin D1*

iii

expression to inhibit breast tumourigenesis. In fact, examination of Kaiso expression in human breast cell lines demonstrated that *cyclin D1* mRNA levels were upregulated in Kaiso-depleted cells. My studies further revealed that methylation-dependent Kaiso-DNA binding may contribute to Kaiso's transcriptional repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter. We also determined that Kaiso inhibits, while p120^{cm} activates, β -catenin-mediated activation of the *cyclin D1* promoter. These findings further support a role for Kaiso and p120^{cm} in breast tumourigenesis via their modulation of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway which is highly implicated in human tumourigenesis. Together these findings support our hypothesis that Kaiso regulates *cyclin D1* expression. However, further studies are required to elucidate the mechanism employed by Kaiso to elicit *cyclin D1* repression and to examine how this activity may contribute to breast tumourigenesis.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Juliet Daniel for her mentorship, guidance, and unwavering support throughout the course of my undergraduate, in addition to my graduate education. I started in this lab as an undergraduate student with no research experience whatsoever, and with Juliet's guidance went on to become a graduate student to further develop my research and critical thinking skills. Moreover I got the added bonus of winning various scholarships and attending numerous conferences along the way. None of this would have been possible without Juliet's commitment to helping her students develop in a well-rounded manner. Thank you, Juliet, for your steadfast support of all my research, professional, and personal goals, and for helping me to become the person I am now.

I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Colin Nurse and Dr. Karen Mossman for their advice, guidance, and helpful comments over the past few years. It has been a wonderful experience to interact with researchers other than my own supervisor, who were able to a look at my research from a different perspective, and offer comments, suggestions, and advice that strengthened my work. I would particularly like to thank Colin for being my sound board and counsellor when I was especially frustrated with my work and for giving me advice that not only helped me gain new perspective at the time, but will stay with me for the rest of my life.

Next, I want to thank the members of the Daniel lab for being an integral part of my thesis experience and for being my friends. To the current Daniel lab members: Monica Graham, Kevin Kelly, Nickett Donaldson, Hong Wang, and Mai Almardini, I will always cherish all the fun times we've shared in the lab. From ganging up on Kevin, wanting to throw Nickett's ever-beeping timer out the window, yelling "HONG!" each time she walks through the door, making up new names for Mai on a regular basis, and dragging Monica into our childish games, e.g. "Monica, Kevin's *looking* at me!"; to sharing our inner-most dreams, fears, joys and sorrows, and brainstorming our research ideas together, you are the people who were there to share in my experience every step of the way. I also want to thank a former Daniel lab member, Chris Spring, who has become a great friend over time. You have all been like a second family to me. As I move onto the next phase of my life, I will miss you all dearly, but I know that we will remain friends for a long time.

I would also like to thank the friends I've met here who have been such an important part of my wonderful experience: Marc Champigny, Yasmin Daniel, Natacha Bruce, Andrew Shaw, Andrew Petrosoniak, Harry Kim, Diana Dregoesc, Jenny Campos, Maria Papaconstantinou, Nadia Scantelbury, Katie Moyer, and Leena Patel. Furthermore, several of the staff of the Department of Biology were extremely helpful to me, making it possible to attain my goals, particularly Barb Reuter, Kathy Greaves, Paul Hoffman, Marvin Gunderman, Marg Biggs, and Marta Prancho. However, a special thank you is in order for Pat Hayward, our graduate administrator, without whom I wouldn't have been able to do anything effectively or efficiently! Pat was always there to help make sense of the various forms and paperwork associated with being a grad student, made sure I got paid appropriately, could answer *any* question I had for her, kept me abreast of scholarships I was eligible for, kept me up to date on graduate school happenings, and always had her door open if I just wanted to come in and talk; and she does this for *all* the 100-plus graduate students in biology! Her devotion and caring for the graduate students in the department is apparent for all to see, and made my experience here an extremely smooth and unforgettable one!

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for supporting me throughout my years as a graduate student, and being there for all the highs and lows that come with this role. I wouldn't have been able to do this without you, and know that I will be able to achieve anything I set my mind to because you will be there to help and support me every step of the way.

My time spent as a graduate student has been one of the best experiences of my life, and has brought more to my life than I ever imagined it would. I have grown in my research and critical thinking skills, have learned how to problem-solve even in the most adverse situations, and I have learned valuable life lessons along the way. I can boldly say that the best lesson I learned during my time here is to always persevere, and to continually pursue my goals no matter the hurdles that pop up along the way. I will always cherish my days spent in Life Sciences 321, and I have the utmost faith that this experience is the foundation of more good things to come personally and professionally.

Contributions by Others

The pGL3 Basic 1748CD1 and pGL3 Basic 962CD1 luciferase reporter constructs were kind gifts of Dr. Frank McCormick (USCF). The pcDNA3-hKaiso and pcDNA3-hKaiso-NLSmutant constructs were subcloned and characterized by Kevin F. Kelly (Daniel lab). The semi-quantitative RT-PCR experiments were performed by Monica Graham (Technician, Daniel lab), and designed and optimized by Abena A. Otchere. All other experimental procedures were performed by Abena A. Otchere.

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Acknowledgmentsv
Contributions by Othersvii
List of Figures and Tablesxi
Abbreviationsxiii
1. Introduction1
1.1. Cell adhesion defects in tumourigenesis1
1.2. E-cadherin: The major epithelial cell adhesion molecule1
1.3. The E-cadherin-catenin complex
1.4. β-catenin roles in intracellular signaling7
1.5. p120-catenin: a versatile regulator of cadherin function10
1.6. p120 regulation of actin cytoskeleton dynamics13
1.7. p120 nuclear functions15
1.8. Kaiso: the unique dual-specificity POZ-ZF transcription factor
1.9. Sequence-specific Kaiso target genes
1.10. Methylation-dependent Kaiso gene regulation24
1.11. Kaiso roles in development and cancer
1.12. cyclin D1: a putative Kaiso target gene
1.13. Rationale and Hypothesis
2. Materials and Methods
2.1. Cells and Tissue Culture
2.2. Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot
2.3. Immunofluorescence
2.4. Serum Stimulation and Starvation of Cells
2.5. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
2.6. Plasmid Constructs
2.7. Protein Expression Induction and Purification

2.8. Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assays41
2.9. Site-directed mutagenesis
2.10. Luciferase Assays47
2.11. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR49
3. Results
3.1. Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin are differentially expressed in breast cell lines51
3.2. Subcellular localization of Kaiso and p120 in different cell lines
3.3. Kaiso and p120 interact in breast cell lines independent of E-cadherin
expression
3.4. Kaiso binds the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo in a growth factor-dependent
manner
3.5. p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in MCF-7 cells61
3.6. Kaiso binds cyclin D1 promoter-derived probes in vitro
3.7. Kaiso represses the cyclin D1 promoter in a dose-dependent manner69
3.8. p120 activates the <i>cyclin D1</i> promoter72
3.9. Kaiso represses cyclin D1 promoter reporter constructs lacking the KBS74
3.10. The cyclin D1 promoter may be regulated by CpG methylation78
3.11. Kaiso binds methylated cyclin D1 promoter fragments in vitro
3.12. Kaiso and p120 modulate β -catenin-mediated activation of the <i>cyclin D1</i>
promoter
3.13. Kaiso misexpression regulates cyclin D1 transcript levels
4. Discussion
4.1. Kaiso, p120 and E-cadherin expression in breast cell lines
4.2. Kaiso and p120 interaction in breast cell lines
4.3. Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo
4.4. Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter in vitro
4.5. Kaiso and p120 regulation of the cyclin D1 promoter
4.6. Kaiso association with methylated sequences within the cyclin D1 promoter.105
4.7. Kaiso misexpresion effects on cyclin D1 mRNA108

4.8. Kaiso and p120 modulation of β -catenin-mediated activation of the	cyclin D1
promoter	109
4.9. Putative mechanisms of Kaiso-mediated cyclin D1 repression	110
4.10. A potential role for Kaiso in breast tumourigenesis	114
4.11. Conclusion and Significance.	116
Appendix A: Control Experiments	117
Materials and Methods	
A.1. Luciferase Assays	
Results and Discussion	
A.2. Kaiso does not repress transcription from the pGL3 Basic	
backbone vector	
A.3. Kaiso mutant proteins repress the cyclin D1 promoter	121
A.4. Kaiso siRNA constructs have opposite effects on the cyclin D1	
promoter	124
Appendix B: Supplemental Data	127
Materials and Methods	
B.1. Luciferase Assays.	128
B.2. Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assays	128
Results and Discussion	129
B.3. Murine Kaiso activates cyclin D1 expression in HeLa cells	129
B.4. Murine Kaiso exhibits stronger binding to the cyclin D1 promo	ter than
human Kaiso	133
B.5. Murine Kaiso associates with methylated cyclin D1 promoter p	robes138
References	140

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1: The E-cadherin-catenin complex. 5
Figure 2: β-catenin and the Wnt signaling pathway9
Figure 3: Schematic diagram of p120 ^{ctn} structure
Figure 4: p120 ^{ctn} intracellular signaling
Figure 5: Schematic diagram of Kaiso structure
Figure 6: Kaiso regulates the expression of diverse genes
Figure 7: cyclin D1 is a putative Kaiso target gene
Table 1: Generation of GST-hKaiso constructs 40
Table 2: cyclin D1 promoter-derived oligomers used for electrophoretic mobility shift
assays43
Table 3: Site-directed mutagenesis of cyclin D1 promoter KBS elements
Table 4: Reporters and effectors used in artificial promoter assays
Figure 8: Characterization of Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin expression in breast epithelial
cell lines
 cell lines
cell lines52Figure 9: Kaiso and p120 subcellular localization54Figure 10: Characterization of Kaiso and p120 interaction by immunoprecipitation56Table 5: Comparison of E-cadherin and cyclin D1 expression in selected breast tumour and non-tumour epithelial cell lines57Figure 11: Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo59Table 6: Summary of serum-dependent Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter 60
cell lines
 cell lines
cell lines52Figure 9: Kaiso and p120 subcellular localization54Figure 10: Characterization of Kaiso and p120 interaction by immunoprecipitation56Table 5: Comparison of E-cadherin and cyclin D1 expression in selected breast tumour and non-tumour epithelial cell lines57Figure 11: Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo59Table 6: Summary of serum-dependent Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter 6062Figure 12: p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo62Figure 13: A schematic diagram of the human Kaiso deletion mutants fused to GST65Figure 14: Preparation and purification of GST-hKaiso fusion proteins66
cell lines52Figure 9: Kaiso and p120 subcellular localization54Figure 10: Characterization of Kaiso and p120 interaction by immunoprecipitation56Table 5: Comparison of E-cadherin and cyclin D1 expression in selected breast tumour and non-tumour epithelial cell lines57Figure 11: Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo59Table 6: Summary of serum-dependent Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter 6062Figure 12: p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo62Figure 13: A schematic diagram of the human Kaiso deletion mutants fused to GST65Figure 14: Preparation and purification of GST-hKaiso fusion proteins66Figure 15: Kaiso specifically binds the cyclin D1 promoter -1118 KBS in vitro67
cell lines52Figure 9: Kaiso and p120 subcellular localization54Figure 10: Characterization of Kaiso and p120 interaction by immunoprecipitation56Table 5: Comparison of E-cadherin and cyclin D1 expression in selected breast tumour and non-tumour epithelial cell lines57Figure 11: Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo59Table 6: Summary of serum-dependent Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter 60Figure 12: p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo62Figure 13: A schematic diagram of the human Kaiso deletion mutants fused to GST65Figure 14: Preparation and purification of GST-hKaiso fusion proteins66Figure 15: Kaiso specifically binds the cyclin D1 promoter -1118 KBS in vitro67Figure 16: Kaiso does not bind the cyclin D1 promoter +24 KBS in vitro68

Figure 18: Kaiso represses transcription from the cyclin D1 promoter in a dose-
dependent manner71
Figure 19: p120 activates the <i>cyclin D1</i> promoter73
Figure 20: Schematic diagram of the cyclin D1 promoter KBS mutant constructs
generated76
Figure 21: Kaiso represses luciferase expression from KBS point mutant cyclin D1
promoter constructs
Figure 22: The cyclin D1 promoter contains methylatable DNA sequences
Figure 23: Kaiso binds the CD1+24 probe in a methylation-dependent manner
Figure 24: Kaiso does not bind the CD1-1118 probe in a methylation-dependent
manner
Figure 25: Kaiso and p120 modulate β -catenin-mediated activation of the cyclin D1
promoter
Figure 26: Effects of Kaiso misexpression on cyclin D1 transcript expression levels91
Figure 27: Comparison of human and murine Kaiso zinc finger domains102
Figure 28: Bimodal DNA-binding-directed cyclin D1 repression by Kaiso112
Figure 29: Potential cytoplasmic roles for Kaiso in directing cyclin D1 repression113
Figure A-1: Kaiso overexpression has no effect on the empty pGL3 Basic vector 120
Figure A-2: Kaiso mutant proteins repress the <i>cyclin D1</i> promoter123
Figure A-3: siRNA Kaiso constructs have opposing effects on luciferase expression126
Figure B-1: Murine Kaiso exhibits different transcriptional activity in human vs. murine
cell lines130
Figure B-2: Mutation of the KBS does not affect murine Kaiso regulation of the
cyclin D1 promoter
Figure B-3: Murine Kaiso binds both KBS of the cyclin D1 promoter in vitro135
Figure B-4: Murine Kaiso binds methylated cyclin D1 promoter-derived probes
<i>in vitro</i>

Abbreviations

.

5-aza-dc	<u>5-aza-d</u> eoxy <u>c</u> ytidine
AR	<u>a</u> cidic <u>r</u> egion
Arm	<u>Armadillo</u>
BTB/POZ	$\underline{\mathbf{B}}$ ric a brac/ $\underline{\mathbf{T}}$ ramtrack/ $\underline{\mathbf{B}}$ road Complex/ $\underline{\mathbf{Po}}$ x viruses and $\underline{\mathbf{z}}$ inc finger
CBD	<u>c</u> atenin <u>b</u> inding <u>d</u> omain
ChIP	chromatin immunoprecipitation
CMS	<u>c</u> ongenital <u>m</u> yasthenic <u>s</u> yndromes
EC	<u>e</u> xtra <u>c</u> ellular
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EMSA	<u>e</u> lectrophoretic <u>m</u> obility <u>s</u> hift <u>a</u> ssay
GSK-3	glycogen synthase kinase
GST	glutathione- <u>S</u> -transferase
HDAC	histone deacetylase
IP	Immunoprecipitation
JMD	j uxta <u>m</u> embrane <u>d</u> omain
KBS	<u>K</u> aiso <u>b</u> inding <u>s</u> ite
LRP5/6	low-density-lipoprotein receptor related proteins 5 or 6
МАРК	<u>m</u> itogen- <u>a</u> ctivated protein kinase
me	<u>Me</u> thylated
N-CoR	<u>n</u> uclear <u>cor</u> epressor
NES	<u>n</u> uclear <u>e</u> xport <u>s</u> ignal
NLS	<u>n</u> uclear <u>l</u> ocalization <u>s</u> ignal
pAb	p olyclonal <u>a</u> nti <u>b</u> ody
PLB	<u>Passive lysis buffer</u>
RNAi	<u>RNA</u> interference

RTK	<u>r</u> eceptor <u>tyrosine</u> <u>k</u> inase
RT-PCR	$\underline{\mathbf{r}}$ everse $\underline{\mathbf{t}}$ ranscriptase $\underline{\mathbf{p}}$ olymerase $\underline{\mathbf{c}}$ hain $\underline{\mathbf{r}}$ eaction
siRNA	short interfering RNA
TCF/LEF	<u>T</u> - <u>c</u> ell <u>factor/lymphoid enhancer</u> <u>factor</u>
WB	<u>W</u> estern <u>b</u> lot
ZF	<u>z</u> inc <u>f</u> inger

Introduction

1.1. Cell adhesion defects in tumourigenesis

Tumour progression from the benign to malignant stage is characterized by a multitude of molecular, cellular, and tissue level events. These events culminate in phenotypic changes that eventually lead to tumour metastasis from the primary tumour site to other parts of the body. It is usually when primary tumours metastasize to vital organs that cancers become fatal, due to organ malfunction or failure caused by tumour cell proliferation.

In tumour cells, the aberrant regulation of genes involved in cell proliferation, adhesion, and migration alters normal cellular processes. This allows individual tumour cells to break away from the primary tumour site, migrate to distant tissues, and establish secondary tumour sites. While a multitude of genes are dysregulated during the tumourigenic process, evidence suggests that the disruption of genes associated with normal cell-cell adhesion is a crucial turning point in the cascade of events that promote tumour progression and metastasis, reviewed in (12). The specific disruption of the cadherin family of cell adhesion molecules has been strongly implicated in promoting metastasis (12).

1.2. E-cadherin: The major epithelial cell adhesion molecule

Although there are many different classes of cell adhesion molecules, those of the cadherin family play a key role in the development and maintenance of strong cell-cell

1

adhesion junctions, reviewed in (12, 39, 98). Cadherins are tissue-specific cell adhesion molecules that are vital for the establishment and maintenance of normal cell-cell contacts and tissue structure, reviewed in (33). The most extensively studied cadherins are epithelial (E-), neuronal (N-), placental (P-), and vascular endothelial (VE-) cadherins. In epithelial cells, E-cadherin-based Adherens Junctions are responsible for maintaining strong cell-to-cell contacts and upholding proper epithelial tissue structure, reviewed in (140). E-cadherin is a 114 kDa protein consisting of a large **extracellular** (EC) domain that mediates E-cadherin homodimerization and homophilic interactions (58, 93), a single-pass transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic domain that complexes with cytoplasmic cell-cell adhesion co-factors (51, 85). During development, interaction between the same type of cadherin molecules on different cells dictates the sorting of cells into tissues. This is the initial point of cell-to-cell contact and provides the basis of proper tissue structure.

The E-cadherin extracellular domain is required for its adhesive activity (91, 113) and consists of 5 EC repeats that are successively linked together by Ca^{2+} binding sites (75, 124). Multiple EC repeats contribute to a low affinity interaction between cadherin monomers to form cadherin homodimers on the cell surface (17). Upon E-cadherin homodimer formation, the EC repeats mediate homophilic interactions with E-cadherin molecules on adjacent cells in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner to form strong cell-cell contacts (17, 75). Homophilic binding of cadherin molecules involves extensive overlap between EC domains and may arise from multiple interactions or different combinations of interactions between EC domains, which are as yet not clearly defined (17). However,

EC repeats 1 and 2 are necessary for proper cadherin dimerization and homophilic interaction activity (75, 112, 113).

E-cadherin function is vital to the establishment and maintenance of tissue structure and as such its downregulation or malfunction is believed to be a major contributing factor to the motility and invasive characteristics of metastatic tumours, including tumours of the breast, colon, and prostate, reviewed in (11, 12, 32). Most metastatic tumours are of epithelial origin and in approximately 50% of these tumours E-cadherin expression and/or function is absent or reduced, reviewed in (12). In most of these cases E-cadherin expression is lost altogether, mostly through promoter inactivation by methylation, reviewed in (11). In the remaining 50% of metastatic tumours that exhibit normal E-cadherin expression and function, the loss of cell adhesion and increase in migration has been attributed to the catenins, the cadherin cytoplasmic cofactors, reviewed in (12).

1.3. The E-cadherin-catenin complex

The cytoplasmic tail of E-cadherin interacts with the catenins, which coordinately regulate E-cadherin stability, adhesion, and turnover, reviewed in (9). The catenins β -, γ -, and α -catenin were first identified based on their ability to co-precipitate with E-cadherin and were named based on their mobility by SDS-PAGE (68, 132). The catenin p120 (p120^{ctn}) was identified years later as a component of the E-cadherin-catenin complex due to its structural similarity to β - and γ -catenin (100, 102). β -catenin and γ -catenin are known as Armadillo catenins due to their high sequence homology to the

Drosophila segment polarity gene Armadillo (68) and they are characterized by repeated 42-amino acid **Arm**adillo (Arm) motifs (90). γ-catenin is also known as plakoglobin, which is a component of desmosomes (16, 57). In contrast, α -catenin is not an Armadillo catenin but is homologous to the actin binding protein vinculin (36, 74). E-cadherin interacts in a mutually exclusive manner with β-catenin or γ-catenin at the extreme C-terminal catenin binding domain (CBD), whereas it interacts with p120-catenin (p120 ctm) at the juxtamembrane domain (JMD) (Figure 1) (28, 76, 141). The classical catenins β- and γ-catenin in turn interact with α-catenin to anchor the E-cadherin-catenin complex to the actin cytoskeleton and stabilize cell-cell adhesion (72, 73, 86, 121) (Figure 1).

Together the catenins play a crucial role in regulating E-cadherin-based cell-cell adhesion. Notably, cells expressing cadherin molecules that lack the cytoplasmic tail do not aggregate or form cell-cell contacts (72, 86, 121), underscoring the essential roles of catenins in cell-cell adhesion. Phosphorylation events further regulate the interplay between cadherin and catenin mediation of cell-cell adhesion. Several studies have suggested an association between cadherins and receptor tyrosine kinases, which reciprocally regulate each other's activities, reviewed in (132). Receptor tyrosine kinase phosphorylation of the E-cadherin catenin binding domain inhibits cadherin-catenin complex formation (121). Furthermore, the Armadillo catenins β -, γ -, and p120^{ctn} are phosphorylated by the non-receptor tyrosine kinase Src, and by receptor tyrosine kinases in responses to a variety of growth factors, reviewed in (22). Phosphorylation of β - and γ -catenin can lead to the dissociation of α -catenin from the complex, reducing the



Figure 1: The E-cadherin-catenin complex. E-cadherin is a transmembrane cell adhesion molecule with five EC repeats that mediate E-cadherin dimer formation and homophilic interactions with E-cadherin molecules of adjacent cells. E-cadherin is anchored to the actin cytoskeleton through its cytoplasmic interactions with the catenins. β -catenin interacts with E-cadherin at the C-terminal catenin binding domain, and is interchangable with γ -catenin (not depicted). β - or γ -catenin in turn interact with α -catenin to link E-cadherin to the actin cytoskeleton. The catenin p120^{etn} interacts with E-cadherin at the juxtamembrane domain.

strength of cell adhesion, reviewed in (9); however, the role of p120^{ctn} phosphorylation in modulating cadherin adhesive strength remains controversial. Initial studies hinted that p120 phosphorylation enhances cadherin junction assembly (55, 87, 117), but current studies suggest that p120 phosphorylation is not essential to stabilize cadherin function (24, 42, 64). Moreover it is still difficult to distinguish between the direct effects of p120 phosphorylation and phosphorylation of other components of the cadherin-catenin complex (4, 22), however, the development of new technologies may aid in elucidating how p120 phosphorlyation contributes to the function of the cadherin-catenin complex. Phosphorylation of the non-Armadillo catenin α -catenin is relatively low when compared to the Armadillo catenins (22) and the significance of this phosphorylation is poorly understood.

Mounting evidence suggests that in addition to modulating cadherin function, the catenins are also involved in intracellular signaling events, leading to changes in gene expression, reviewed in (9). In support of this notion, aberrant catenin expression, subcellular localization, and phosphorylation have also been implicated in contributing to the invasive phenotype of tumours. β -, γ - and p120^{ctn}, are tyrosine phosphorylated upon **e**pidermal **g**rowth **f**actor (EGF) signaling in several tumour cell lines, reviewed in (22), a phenomenon which is associated with E-cadherin redistribution to the cytoplasm and suppression of its function (114, 115). Furthermore phosphorylation of β -catenin in v-Src- or Ras- transformed cells is associated with decreased cell adhesion, increased migration, and increased cell invasion, without affecting overall expression levels of the cadherins or catenins (10, 65).

1.4. β-catenin roles in intracellular signaling

The most extensively characterized catenin is β -catenin, which in addition to its role in cadherin-mediated cell adhesion, also participates as a key signaling molecule in the Wnt signaling pathway. The Wnt pathway regulates various cellular processes including cell growth, cell differentiation, organogenesis and tumourigenesis, reviewed in (63) (Figure 2). The Wnt signaling cascade initiates with the binding of the secreted Wnt ligand to the Frizzled transmembrane receptor, which is facilitated by the low-densitylipoprotein receptor related proteins 5 or 6 (LRP5/6) (35). This binding in turn suppresses the activity of the serine threonine glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3). In the absence of the Wnt signal, GSK-3 complexes with β -catenin and the tumour suppressor adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), targeting β -catenin for degradation via the ubiquitin-dependent proteosomal pathway (63).

However, upon Wnt signaling, GSK-3 suppression by Frizzled promotes the stabilization of cytosolic β -catenin. This increase in cytosolic β -catenin levels promotes its nuclear localization where it binds the **T**-**c**ell **f**actor/**l**ymphoid **e**nhancer **f**actor (TCF/LEF) transcriptional repressor (Figure 2). β -catenin interaction with TCF/LEF (hereafter TCF) derepresses genes involved in cell growth, differentiation, and migration such as *cyclin D1*, *matrilysin*, *ID2*, and *c-myc* (19, 34, 106, 126), leading to their upregulation in developmental as well as tumourigenic processes. Aberrant Wnt signaling is involved in promoting the progression of various tumours including those of the colon, breast, and intestine, reviewed in (81). Indeed, β -catenin and the β -

catenin/TCF complex are upregulated in many human tumours and tumour-derived cell lines, and have been implicated in the deregulation of cell growth and migration (81).



<u>Figure 2</u>: β -catenin and the Wnt signaling pathway. β -catenin, a well-known regulator of E-cadherin function and cell adhesion (right), is also a signaling molecule in the Wnt signaling pathway (left). Binding of the secreted Wnt ligand to the Frizzled receptor initiates a cascade of events that ends in β -catenin/TCF transcriptional de-repression of genes including *matrilysin*, cyclin D1, ID2, and c-myc.

1.5. p120-catenin: a versatile regulator of cadherin function

The catenin $p120^{ctn}$ (hereafter p120) was originally discovered as a substrate for the Src tyrosine kinase and was later found to be phosphorylated by various receptor tyrosine kinases (26, 102, 104). Further studies on p120 then revealed that it was also a component of the E-cadherin-catenin cell adhesion system (100), facilitating new research into the function of this intriguing protein. p120 is an Armadillo catenin and the prototypical member of the p120 subfamily of Armadillo proteins, that include ARVCF, plakophilin, and δ -catenin, and which are more related to each other than to other Armadillo proteins (4). The p120 Arm domain contains 10 Armadillo repeats (Figure 3) and shares 22% sequence homology with the β -catenin Arm domain (102). The peptide length of p120 is 911 amino acids and has a molecular weight of 120 kDa. Most cell types express multiple isoforms of p120, which are derived from alternative splicing and use of four different start codons of a single p120 gene (48) (Figure 3). Epithelial cells preferentially express the smaller p120 isoform 3, while fibroblasts mainly express the larger p120 isoform 1 (1). The existence of cell-type specific p120 expression patterns hint at functional differences between the p120 isoforms.

Unlike the classical catenins β - and γ -catenin, p120 binds to E-cadherin at the **j**uxta**m**embrane **d**omain (JMD) (127, 141), a highly conserved region within the cadherin superfamily. Furthermore, p120 does not interact with α -catenin like the classical catenins do, and its expression does not seem to be influenced by, or related to, β - or α -catenin expression (21, 25). These unique characteristics of p120 led researchers to



Figure 3: Schematic diagram of p120 structure. (A) p120 is 911 amino acids long, contains 10 Armadillo repeats, and has a molecular weight of 120 kDa. (B) The four major p120 isoforms are derived from alternative splicing of the same gene at different start codons (S1 – S4). S1 is the start site for translation of the largest isoform 1, and so forth.

postulate that p120 had a unique role in regulating cadherin function. While β - and γ catenin are known for positively regulating E-cadherin adhesive strength (9, 145), several studies have implicated p120 as both a positive and negative regulator of E-cadherin adhesive strength, and as a key modulator of E-cadherin stability and turnover (7, 24, 42, 127).

A seminal study on p120 function demonstrated that p120 directly regulates Ecadherin adhesive strength, since uncoupling of p120 from the cadherin-catenin complex severely reduced the transition from loose to tight cell junctions (127). Moreover in a p120-deficient colon carcinoma cell line (SW48) the cadherin-catenin complex is severely impaired; however, expression of wild type p120 rescued the characteristic cobblestone epithelial morphology (42). These were the first indications that p120 has a critical function in regulating cell adhesive strength and establishing epithelial morphology. However, in the colon carcinoma cell line, Colo205, which lack normal Ecadherin function despite having normal levels of E-cadherin and the catenins, ectopic expression of N-terminally truncated p120 restored adhesion, whereas full length p120 did not (7). This implicated the N-terminus of p120 in negatively regulating E-cadherin adhesion, and points to the possibility that signaling events in different cell types may dictate whether p120 has a positive or negative effect on E-cadherin adhesive strength.

Research in recent years has revealed novel functions for p120 as a cadherin cofactor and point to an indispensable role for p120 in regulating cadherin stability and turnover. One key study concluded that E-cadherin expression levels are dependent upon p120 expression (24). Using **RNA** interference (RNAi) and p120 reconstitution, Davis *et*

12

al. (24) demonstrated that p120 depletion resulted in the dose-dependent reduction of not only E-cadherin, but also N-, P-, and VE-cadherins. Independent studies further revealed that p120 is involved in directing cadherin endocytosis and degradation (38); specifically, p120 controls the entry of cadherins into the endosomal-lysosomal pathway (139).

In addition to regulating cadherin internalization and degradation, p120 is also involved in directing cadherins to the cell membrane. p120 associates with the microtubule network and specifically interacts with kinesin, a molecular motor involved in trafficking proteins along the microtubule network (18, 30). In the cytosol, p120 interacts directly with vesicle-bound cadherins and kinesin simultaneously and supports the rapid delivery of cadherins to the cell surface (18). Furthermore observations that p120 associates with the earliest forms of N-cadherin (130) and co-localizes with Ncadherin at the Golgi apparatus (18) suggest that p120 is involved at various stages of transporting newly synthesized cadherins from the Golgi Apparatus to the cell surface. Together these studies demonstrate that p120 is involved in cadherin membrane trafficking, endocytosis, and degradation.

1.6. p120 regulation of actin cytoskeleton dynamics

Like its family member β -catenin, p120 is also involved in intracellular signaling. The E-cadherin JMD, which interacts with p120, has been implicated in modulating cell motility (141), and now p120 has also been implicated in this complex process. Previous work with p120 revealed that its overexpression in fibroblasts and epithelial cells induced a dendritic branching phenotype that is reminiscent of the formation of dendritic neuronal extensions (101). Co-transfection of E-cadherin along with p120 suppressed the branching phenotype, whereas E-cadherin mutants lacking p120-binding ability were unable to suppress the phenotype (101). Additionally, cytoplasmic p120 was observed at significantly higher levels in the E-cadherin mutant cells when compared to wild type cells (101). This suggested that cytoplasmic p120 is responsible for this dendritic phenotype and that sequestration of p120 from the cytosol to the membrane is sufficient to suppress the phenotype. The formation of dendritic cellular extensions is a process that occurs through the remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton, which is mediated by small GTPases of the Rho family, reviewed in (105). Ectopic expression of p120 also results in increased cell migration and motility (79), another cellular process mediated by Rho GTPases. Together, the p120 effects on cellular branching and motility led researchers to question whether p120 is involved in modulating Rho GTPase function.

Initial studies demonstrated that p120 overexpression increased the activity of Rac1 and Cdc42, two members of the Rho GTPase family that inhibit the activity of RhoA (80). p120 was also shown to bind the Rho GTPase guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav2 (80). Moreover p120 directly inhibits the activity of RhoA (5), which is involved in regulating myosin chain elongation, actin filament rearrangement, cell-shape determination, cell proliferation, and gene expression (79). The link between p120 and Rho GTPase activity, and direct evidence demonstrating that p20 interacts with various Rho GTPases provides a possible molecular mechanism by which p120 regulates cytoskeletal dynamics and cell motility. Overall these observations led to the hypothesis

that cytoplasmic p120 promotes cell migration and metastasis in E-cadherin-deficient cells through its interactions with Rho GTPases.

1.7. p120 nuclear functions

In addition to its role in regulating cytoskeletal dynamics, p120 has nuclear roles that are not yet fully understood. Several groups have detected nuclear p120 in various cell lines, suggesting that p120 may have a functional role in the nucleus (50, 107, 127, 128). Recent work from our laboratory revealed that p120 contains a **n**uclear localization **s**ignal (NLS) between Arm repeats 6 and 7 that mediates p120 translocation to the nucleus (50). Interestingly, a minimal point mutation of this sequence not only abrogates p120 nuclear localization, but also abolishes the p120-induced branching phenotype (50). These observations suggest that the p120 NLS is not only important for p120 nuclear localization but also functions in p120's cytoskeletal remodelling functions. The discovery of the p120 NLS coupled with the identification of a putative **n**uclear **g**xport **g**ignal (NES) sequence in the carboxy terminus of p120 (128) demonstrates that p120 can shuttle in and out of the nucleus.

Currently, there is no known signaling event that specifically induces p120 nuclear import, although certain instrinsic and extrinsic factors affect p120 subcellular localization. For example, the different p120 isoforms display unique nuclear localization patterns; p120 isoform 1 is seldom observed in the nucleus, whereas isoform 3 is observed more often in the nucleus (107). Closer inspection of these isoforms reveals an N-terminal coiled-coil domain in isoform 1, which is not present in isoform 3.

15

Coiled-coil domains are known to be involved in protein-protein interactions (107), and it is possible that the isoform 1 coiled-coil domain anchors p120 to unknown cytoplasmic factors or binds nuclear export factors. Additional studies have indicated that phosphorylated forms of p120 preferentially localize to the nucleus (138), however other studies have shown that mutation of certain phosphorylation domains within p120 does not affect its nuclear shuttling activity (107). Furthermore, E-cadherin-deficient cell lines show a notable increase in cytoplasmic as well as nuclear p120, and p120 phosphorylation status is frequently altered in these cell lines (117, 127, 128). Together these observations provide a spatial and contextual link between p120 and the different extrinsic factors that may affect its intracellular signaling, nuclear localization and function during tumour progression (Figure 4).



Figure 4: **p120**^{etn} **intracellular signaling**. The catenin p120^{etn}, a regulatory component of the E-cadherin-catenin complex, is emerging as an intracellular signaling molecule. p120^{etn} is phosphorylated by Src and receptor tyrosine kinases although it is currently unknown whether this occurs with E-cadherin-bound or free cytoplasmic p120^{etn}. Phosphorylated forms of p120^{etn} are known to localize to the nucleus and preferentially interact with Kaiso, a POZ-ZF transcriptional regulator, to abrogate Kaiso transcriptional activity. p120^{etn} nuclear localization and gene regulation may be the end-point of the long-suspected E-cadherin adhesion-based signaling pathway.

1.8. Kaiso: the unique dual-specificity POZ-ZF transcription factor

In light of the increasing body of data that hinted at a nuclear role for p120, an exciting discovery was made when Kaiso, a novel transcription factor, was identified as a p120-specific binding partner using a yeast-2-hybrid assay with the p120 Arm domain as bait (20). Kaiso belongs to the growing family of **B**ric à brac/**T**ramtrack/**B**road Complex and **Po**x viruses and **Z**inc finger (BTB/POZ) (hereafter POZ-ZF) transcription factors (20). This family of proteins is characterized by a POZ domain at the amino terminus and carboxy-terminal zinc finger motifs (2, 8). The POZ domain is a conserved hydrophobic domain of 120 amino acids that mediates protein-protein interactions and is associated with nucleosome/chromatin disruption, metamorphosis, and oogenesis in *Drosophila* (2, 8). The zinc finger domain is generally characterized as a DNA-binding domain, reviewed in (43). Kaiso is a 671 amino acid residue protein with a molecular weight of approximately 100 kDa that possesses the characteristic amino terminal POZ domain and three carboxy terminal C_2H_2 zinc fingers (20) (Figure 5).

After the initial discovery of Kaiso, further experiments revealed that it does not interact with p120 via its POZ domain, but rather via a region encompassing the Kaiso zinc finger domain (20). The catenin p120 binds to Kaiso via its Arm repeats 1-7 which are also involved in its binding to E-cadherin (42, 127), and as such, p120 binding to Kaiso and E-cadherin are believed to be mutually exclusive. In addition, Kaiso does not bind any other known component of the E-cadherin-catenin complex (20), suggesting that its interaction with p120 may mediate specific downstream effects of p120 signaling in epithelial cells. Interestingly, Kaiso interacts preferentially with the smaller p120 isoform 3; this isoform is mainly expressed in epithelial cells that express E-cadherin and is also observed more frequently in the nucleus (1, 107). The possibility exists that the p120/Kaiso interaction is dictated in part by p120 isoform expression, E-cadherin expression, and/or epithelial morphology. More excitingly this unique interaction may be a component or endpoint of the long-suspected epithelial cell-specific cell adhesionsignaling pathway (Figure 4).

Kaiso is a predominantly nuclear protein, although in certain cell lines some cytoplasmic Kaiso staining is also observed (20, 84). Kaiso possesses a basic monopartite NLS located just upstream of the zinc finger domain. This Kaiso NLS is highly conserved across species, and suggests an indispensable role for the NLS in Kaiso function (49) (Figure 5). Minimal point mutations within the NLS abolish Kaiso's nuclear localization and lead to a loss of its transcriptional regulatory abilities (49). Kaiso is a bimodal DNA-binding protein that recognizes a specific consensus sequence or **K**aiso **b**inding **s**ite (KBS) TCCTGCnA where "n" denotes any nucleotide, as well as CpG-methylated dinucleotides, establishing Kaiso as the first POZ-ZF protein to be recognized with dual-specificity DNA-binding capabilities (23). Artificial promoter assays revealed that Kaiso represses transcription via either sequence (94, 119) but to date only Kaiso-mediated repression via the KBS has been shown to be inhibited by p120 in a dose-dependent manner (23).

Our finding that Kaiso immunocomplexes possess <u>h</u>istone <u>deac</u>etylase (HDAC) transcriptional co-repressor activity in both epithelial and fibroblast cell lines (27),

19



Figure 5: Schematic diagram of Kaiso structure. Kaiso has a peptide length of 671 amino acids. It has an amino terminal POZ domain and a carboxy terminal ZF domain with 3 C_2H_2 zinc fingers. There are two highly acidic sequences near the N-terminus of Kaiso which have an unknown function but which may play a role in transcription activation. Kaiso also possesses a basic monopartite <u>n</u>uclear localization <u>signal</u> (NLS) upstream of the zinc finger domain.

suggests that Kaiso, like most POZ-ZF proteins, recruits the HDAC complex to repress transcription. Furthermore Kaiso complexes with the mSin3A co-repressor in epithelial but not fibroblast cell lines (27), suggesting that Kaiso co-repressors may be cell-type specific. Kaiso also exists as part of the methylation-specific <u>n</u>uclear <u>cor</u>epressor (N-CoR) transcriptional repression complex, which also involves HDAC, but lacks mSin3A (142). Together these findings suggest that different transcriptional repression complexes may mediate Kaiso sequence-specific and methylated DNA repression activities.

1.9. Sequence-specific Kaiso target genes

To date Kaiso has been shown to regulate a variety of genes involved in different cellular processes and most of these gene promoters have at least two copies of the sequence-specific KBS (Summarized in Figure 6). During our initial characterization of Kaiso, our lab identified two KBS elements within the promoter region of the matrix metalloproteinase gene *matrilysin*. The *matrilysin* gene product is involved in extracellular matrix degradation and is often dysregulated during tumourigenesis, reviewed in (67). Moreover, *matrilysin* is a well-known target of the Wnt/ β -catenin/TCF signaling cascade (19) and the presence of Kaiso recognition sequences within this promoter provided a context in which to study the possible convergence of p120/Kaiso and β -catenin/TCF on the same target gene. Kaiso associates with the *matrilysin* promoter in various cell lines, and electrophoretic **m**obility shift **a**ssays (EMSA) using Kaiso fusion proteins and *matrilysin* pomoter-derived probes show that this association


Figure 6: Kaiso regulates the expression of diverse genes. Kaiso is a transcription factor that has already been characterized to regulate a variety of target genes including *matrilysin*, *rapsyn*, *wnt11*, *siamois*, and *MTA2*. These genes are involved in different cellular functions, placing Kaiso as a key regulatory component of various cell processes. Red arrows indicate genes that are repressed by Kaiso while the green arrows indicate genes that Kaiso activates. "KBS" denotes sequence-specific DNA-binding while "me" denotes methyl-CpG binding.

most likely occurs through the KBS elements (119). Artificial promoter assays demonstrated that Kaiso is a dose-dependent and sequence-specific transcriptional repressor of the *matrilysin* promoter, since a minimal point mutation of the KBS elements within the promoter abolished this Kaiso-mediated repression (119). More importantly we found that Kaiso inhibits β -catenin-mediated activation of *matrilysin*, and Kaiso's repression of *matrilysin* and its inhibitory effect on β -catenin can be abrogated by nuclear p120 (119). Our findings were the first to report that Kaiso and p120 converged with β catenin/TCF on a canonical Wnt target gene and raised the exciting possibility that Wnt and cadherin signaling events may result in the transcriptional regulation of similar genes.

Although several independent studies have established Kaiso as a transcriptional repressor, one study to date has also reported it as a transcriptional activator. Kaiso activates the synapse-specific gene *rapysn* via two KBS elements within its promoter region in murine and chicken myotubes (108). This establishes Kaiso as one of the few POZ-ZF transcription factors known to activate as well as repress gene expression; ZF-5 and Miz-1 also display transcriptional activation and repression activities (13, 47, 54, 136). The *rapsyn* gene product is involved in acetylcholine receptor clustering at neuromuscular junctions upon neural signaling, reviewed in (133). Several *rapysn* promoter mutations have been identified in patients with <u>c</u>ongenital <u>m</u>yasthenic <u>syndromes</u> (CMS), and interestingly, one of these mutations occurs within one of the two *rapsyn* promoter KBS (108), implicating Kaiso as a key regulator of *rapysn* transcription and perhaps linking Kaiso to CMS. Minimal promoter assays using a *rapysn* promoter

harbouring the CMS promoter KBS mutation resulted in a reduced Kaiso ability to activate the promoter (108), which may provide an explaination as to why *rapysn* expression levels are reduced in CMS patients (108). Interestingly the p120 subfamily member δ -catenin, which is highly expressed in neuronal cells, was found to interact with *Kaiso* in murine myotube cells where it enhances Kaiso-mediated activation of *rapsyn* (59, 108). Since δ -catenin is a p120 subfamily member, it is possible that Kaiso is a specific effector of p120 subfamily signaling functions in specific cell types. The interaction may also hint at a more general ability for Kaiso, a ubiquitously expressed protein, to interact with cell-type specific p120 family members to propagate signals initiated by cell-type specific cadherins.

1.10. Methylation-dependent Kaiso gene regulation

Although several genes have been identified as Kaiso sequence-specific targets, thus far only one gene has been characterized as a DNA methylation-dependent Kaiso target; *MTA2* belongs to the metastasis-associated gene family and may be involved in the transcriptional activation or repression of genes involved in promoting metastasis (142). The MTA2 promoter contains a 22 nucleotide CpG island approximately 3 Kb upstream of the transcriptional start site and Kaiso and N-CoR associate with this CpG island in a methylation-dependent manner *in vivo* (142). Treatment of cells with **5-aza**-**d**eoxy**c**ytidine (5-aza-dC), a DNA methylation inhibitor, not only reduced Kaiso and N-CoR association with the MTA2 CpG island, but significantly increased MTA2 transcript levels (142), suggesting that Kaiso is a methylation-specific transcriptional repressor of

this gene (Figure 6).

Other genes have been postulated to be methylation-dependent Kaiso target genes including the *S100A4* gene and *E-cadherin* (94), both of which are known to contain heavily methylated promoter regions. Since *E-cadherin* is repressed by methylation in various human tumours that have acquired metastatic potential (32), the possibility that it is a Kaiso target gene is an intriguing notion. One can postulate that Kaiso-mediated transcriptional repression of *E-cadherin* through one or more of its CpG islands may be the result of a signal transduction feedback loop transmitted from the cell surface through p120 to result in E-cadherin downregulation.

Additional evidence supporting a role for methylation-dependent Kaiso transcriptional regulation was obtained using the *Xenopus* model system. Kaiso depletion in early *Xenopus* embryos led to the premature activation of normally methylated zygotic genes (109). Furthermore a large portion of these genes (~60%) function in cell growth control, chromatin structure, and signal transduction (109). These findings point to a crucial role for Kaiso in methylation-dependent transcriptional repression and suggest that further studies on Kaiso- methylation-dependent transcriptional repression are warranted.

1.11. Kaiso roles in development and cancer

Most mammalian POZ-ZF proteins are strongly implicated in development and cancer, and ongoing research on Kaiso function indicates that it too plays a role in these complex processes. Kaiso's role in vertebrate development has been studied thus far

using the *Xenopus* model system. The *Xenopus* Kaiso protein (XKaiso) shares 53% homology with murine Kaiso (mKaiso), and the XKaiso POZ and zinc finger domains share 87% and 90% homology, respectively with mKaiso (53). XKaiso also interacts with Xp120, and like its murine homologue, functions as a transcriptional repressor (53).

The first report on the functional consequences of XKaiso activity showed that it is required for proper gastrulation movements during later stage *Xenopus* embryo development (52). XKaiso depletion in *Xenopus* embryos resulted in a gastrulation defect phenotype characterized by an exposed endoderm, incomplete axis extension, and improper neural tube closure (52). Closer analysis of this striking phenotype revealed that XKaiso transcriptional repression of the non-canonical *xWnt11* gene contributed to the observed defect and as expected Xp120 was able to relieve this repression. Together these data demonstrated that XKaiso and Xp120 participate in the non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway to regulate gastrulation and convergent extension movements during *Xenopus* development (52).

XKaiso and Xp120 were subsequently shown to have a direct role in regulating canonical Wnt signaling. Studies revealed that XKaiso is a sequence-specific transcriptional repressor of several β -catenin/TCF target genes including *c-myc*, *cyclin D1*, and *c-Fos*, while Xp120 relieves this repression activity (88). These genes play key roles in *Xenopus* cell growth, differentiation and pattern formation during embryogenesis, but are also oncogenes associated with aberrant cell growth during tumour progression (81). Luciferase assays performed with the canonical Wnt signaling reporter TOPFLASH resulted in decreased luciferase expression upon XKaiso overexpression (88), demonstrating that XKaiso inhibits β -catenin transcriptional activity. This led the researchers to question whether XKaiso inhibits Wnt signaling at the phenotypic level. In developing *Xenopus* embryos overexpression of β -catenin causes a prominent axis duplication phenotype in which embryos start to develop two heads; however, coexpression of XKaiso along with β -catenin rescued this phenotype (88). These exciting findings provide further credibility to the hypothesis that Kaiso and p120 converge on β -catenin target genes. The *Xenopus* studies outlined here provide strong evidence of the key role that Kaiso plays in amphibian development and expand upon the current body of knowledge on the interplay between Wnt and catenin signaling.

Various lines of evidence hint that Kaiso may be involved in cancer progression as well; (1) it is a transcriptional regulator of tumourigenesis-associated genes including *matrilysin* and *MTA2* (119, 142), (2) it is an inhibitor of canonical Wnt signaling (88, 119), and (3) it associates with p120 (20), which is often misexpressed in many human cancers (103). The first direct evidence that Kaiso may be involved in human tumour progression was recently published in a study that examined Kaiso subcellular localization in tumour tissues (118). A variety of normal and tumour paraffin-embedded tissues, such as liver, breast, testis, and colon, were probed with Kaiso antibody to visualize Kaiso subcellular localization in the context of the tumour microenviroment. In contrast to observations from cultured cells *in vitro*, most of the normal and tumour tissues displayed clear cytoplasmic Kaiso staining or in some cases very weak nuclear staining (118). This was a surprising finding since Kaiso is widely accepted as a nuclear protein, however in the tumour microenvironment these subcellular localization patterns could point to a mechanism for Kaiso participation in tumour promoting cellular processes.

Interestingly, high levels of cytoplasmic p120 was often found in cells with cytoplasmic Kaiso, and no nuclear p120 was observed in any of the tissues examined (118). This suggested that perhaps p120 was responsible for sequestering Kaiso in the cytoplasm. Furthermore in a subset of tumours, a Kaiso subcellular localization gradient was observed in different tumour compartments. At the leading, invasive edge of the tumours, Kaiso showed a strong nuclear localization, which was accompanied by decreased E-cadherin and p120 staining at cell-cell contacts. In the central part of the tumours progressively less Kaiso was detected in the nucleus and eventually completely cytoplasmic staining was detected (118). This differential subcellular localization of Kaiso in different regions of the tumour tissue could indicate tumour microenvironment-directed regulation of Kaiso activity during different stages of tumour progression and could be the first step in unravelling the roles of Kaiso in tumourigenesis.

A second recently published study also directly investigated the role that Kaiso may play in tumour progression. In this study the *Kaiso* gene was disrupted in mice to assess the effects of *Kaiso* gene deletion in mammalian development and tumourigenesis. Unexpectedly the *Kaiso*-null mice were developmentally viable; they exhibited no obvious developmental abnormalities and did not display phenotypes related to those seen in *Xenopus* (95). Furthermore, analysis of specific Kaiso target genes such as *MTA2*, *Rapsyn*, and *Wnt11* in the *Kaiso*-null mice showed no difference in gene expression when compared to wild type mice (95). This was a surprising finding as

Kaiso depletion in *Xenopus* leads to such striking developmental phenotypes. Therefore, considering that *Kaiso* gene deletion had no obvious developmental effect in mice, investigators then decided to specifically investigate Kaiso roles in colorectal cancer since: (1) Kaiso's interaction with p120 attenuates its function and p120 is misexpressed in 25% of colorectal cancers, and (2) Kaiso is implicated in canonical Wnt signaling, which is perturbed in a large subset of colorectal and intestinal cancers. *Kaiso*-null mice were crossed with $Apc^{Min/+}$ mice, which are well characterized as a murine colorectal cancer model in which perturbed Wnt signaling contributes to tumour progression, reviewed in (89). The resulting *Kaiso*-null *Min* mice had a significantly increased survival rate and significantly smaller intestinal polyps than wild type control crossed mice (95). This study was the first to implicate Kaiso in colon tumourigenesis and suggests that it is an oncogene in this context.

Recent work from our lab suggests that Kaiso is involved in breast tumour progression as well. We probed a Cancer Profiling cDNA Array (Clontech) with Kaiso-specific radio-labelled probes to determine if Kaiso was misexpressed in any of the human cancers represented on the array. We noted that Kaiso was misexpressed in 42% of human breast cancers; it was underexpressed in 30% of breast tumours when compared to matched normal samples and overexpressed in 12% of the samples represented on the array (Daniel Jab, unpublished data). This was an exciting finding because we simultaneously identified three sequence-specific Kaiso binding sites within the *cyclin D1* promoter, a gene that is perturbed in most human tumours, but is most often misexpressed in breast tumours (3, 15, 116). Furthermore, *cyclin D1* is a target gene of

the Wnt signaling pathway (126) implicating yet another canonical Wnt target as a putative Kaiso target gene.

1.12. cyclin D1: a putative Kaiso target gene

The aberrant expression and regulation of the cell cycle gene cyclin D1 is thought to contribute significantly to the tumourigenic process. It was therefore quite exciting to discover that the human cyclin D1 promoter contains one copy of the fully conserved KBS (TCCTGCnA) and two copies of the core KBS (CTGCnA). The cyclin D1 gene product associates with cyclin-dependent kinase 4 or 6 (CDK4/6) to function as the switch that regulates cell cycle progression from G1 (first growth phase) to S (DNA synthesis phase), reviewed in (120). Once a cell has passed this critical cell cycle checkpoint it is committed to completing the cell cycle through G2 (second growth phase) and M (mitosis and cytokinesis phase). Cyclin D1 expression is induced during the G1 phase of the cell cycle and is maintained until the beginning of the S phase where it is rapidly degraded (120) (Figure 7A).

Although *cyclin D1* is overexpressed in a variety of human cancers such as breast, esophageal, and B-cell lymphomas (44, 71, 83), its overexpression is most frequently observed in breast cancers (3, 15, 116). Cyclin D1 malfunction was first implicated in breast cancer when studies indicated that the *cyclin D1* gene localizes to chromosome 11q13, a region of the genome that is amplified in 15 - 20% of human breast cancers (15, 83, 123). Subsequent studies showed that the *cyclin D1* gene product is overexpressed at



Figure 7: Cyclin D1 is a putative Kaiso target gene. (A) Expression of the cyclin D1 gene product is induced during the G1 phase of the cell cycle. Once Cyclin D1 reaches a critical level, it promotes the cell's entry into G2, committing the cell to proceed through the cell cycle. Once the G1 checkpoint has been crossed Cylin D1 is then rapidly degraded while other cyclins are produced to continue with the cell cycle. (B) The cyclin D1 promoter contains three Kaiso binding sites (KBS) in areas upstream and downstream of the gene's transcriptional start site (arrow). The cyclin D1 promoter also contains various sequence-specific transcription factor recognition sequences, of which the c-Fos/c-Jun and TCF/LEF recognition sites are diagrammed.

the mRNA and protein level in 50% of primary breast tumours (3, 15, 116), making *cyclin D1* one of the most commonly overexpressed oncogenes in breast cancer. Transgenic mice that overexpress Cyclin D1 from the MMTV promoter develop and die from breast cancer (131) and Cyclin D1 knockout mice are resistant to breast cancers that are induced by *ras* or *neu* overexpression (144), suggesting that the loss of cell cycle control is a major contributory factor to breast tumour formation and progression. Together these findings suggest that aberrant transcriptional regulation of *cyclin D1* expression is responsible for contributing to the loss of cell cycle control in human tumours.

The *cyclin D1* promoter contains three copies of the KBS; one fully conserved sequence located at position -1118 and two core sequences located at positions +24 and +1050 (within intron 1), relative to the transcriptional start site (Figure 7B). Additionally, the *cyclin D1* promoter has 4 predicted methylatable CpG islands that may recruit methylation-specific transcription factors, such as Kaiso, to induce *cyclin D1* transcriptional repression. The β -catenin/TCF complex is a well-characterized transcriptional activator of *cyclin D1* (126), especially in colon tumours where β -catenin/TCF and p120/Kaiso on Wnt target genes (88, 119), but no studies to date have been carried out on p120/Kaiso regulation of the Wnt target gene *cyclin D1* in the mammalian system. Our investigation of *cyclin D1* as a putative Kaiso target gene will expand upon our current knowledge of Kaiso's gene regulatory functions and its role in inhibiting canonical Wnt signaling. Furthermore this work will provide new opportunities for

studying Kaiso's role in tumourigenesis, and its potential role in breast tumour progression.

1.13. Rationale and Hypothesis

Kaiso is a sequence-specific and methylation-specific transcriptional repressor and has been implicated in regulating genes involved in cell growth and differentiation in development and tumour progression. Our lab previously reported that Kaiso is a sequence-specific repressor of the metastasis-associated *matrilysin* promoter and demonstrated that Kaiso could inhibit β -catenin-mediated activation of this promoter. We have since identified three sequence-specific Kaiso binding sites within the *cyclin D1* promoter, which is a prominent oncogene that is upregulated primarily in human breast tumours, and a gene target of the Wnt/ β -catenin/TCF signaling pathway. Since preliminary data from our lab indicate that Kaiso is underexpressed in 30% of human breast tumours, the possibility exists that Kaiso is involved in regulating breast cell growth, proliferation, and tumourigenesis through its transcriptional regulation of *cyclin D1*. Together these observations led to the exciting possibility that Kaiso is a transcriptional regulator of the *cyclin D1* gene, where it may converge with β catenin/TCF to co-ordinately regulate *cyclin D1* expression.

<u>Hypothesis</u>: Kaiso-mediated transcriptional regulation of *cyclin D1* plays a role in breast cell proliferation and tumourigenesis.

Materials and Methods

2.1. Cells and Tissue Culture

Human breast epithelial cell lines MCF-12A (non-tumour), MCF-7, MDA-468, and MDA-231 (tumour), and human cervical carcinoma HeLa cells were used in these studies and were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA). MCF-12A cells were propagated in DMEM:F12 medium (Hyclone) supplemented with 5% Horse Serum (Gibco/BRL), 10 μ g/ml Insulin (Sigma), 5 μ g/ml Hydrocortizone (Sigma), 20 ng/ml EGF (Invitrogen), and 100 ng/ml Cholera Toxin (Biomol). All other cells were propagated in Dulbecco's minimal essential medium (Hyclone), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco/BRL), 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 μ l/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen), and 0.5 μ g/ml Fungizone (Invitrogen). All cells were incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ humidified incubator.

2.2. Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot

Cultured cells were grown to 90% confluency on 100 mm tissue culture dishes. Each plate was washed once with 5 ml cold PBS and lysed on ice with 0.5% Nonidet P40 lysis buffer (0.5% NP40, 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCL, 1 mM PMSF, 10 μ g/ml leupeptin, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, and 2.5 mM EDTA). The lysates were harvested using a cell scraper and cleared by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. Protein concentration was quantitated using 1X Bradford Reagent (BioRad) and equal protein lysates were incubated with 4 μ g of appropriate antibody at 4°C for one

hour. The following antibodies were used at 4 μ g each for immunoprecipitation: anti-Kaiso 6F monoclonal antibody, anti-p120 15D2 monoclonal antibody, anti- β -catenin polyclonal antibody (Sigma), and anti-E-cadherin monoclonal antibody (Transduction Laboratories). Protein-A-Sepharose beads (Amersham Biosciences) were pre-incubated with rabbit anti-IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories), and 0.5% NP40 lysis buffer at 4°C for an hour, and added to each lysate sample. Immune complexes were captured for one hour after they were washed three times with 0.5% NP40 lysis buffer.

The complexes were then resuspended in 2X Laemmli Sample Buffer (0.1 M Tris pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 10% sucrose, 0.008% Bromophenol blue, 0.24 M β -mercaptoethanol), denatured by boiling, and loaded onto a 7% SDS-poly-acrylamide gel. The separated proteins were then transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Fisher Scientific), incubated with 3% TBS-milk for 5 minutes, and incubated overnight at 4°C with the appropriate primary antibody diluted in 3% TBS-milk on a rocking platform. The following antibodies were used at the specified concentrations for Western blotting: anti-Kaiso polyclonal antibody (1:10,000), anti-p120 15D2 monoclonal antibody (1:2000, 1.0 $\mu g/\mu l$), anti- β -catenin polyclonal antibody (1:1000, 0.5 $\mu g/\mu g$), and anti-E-cadherin monoclonal antibody (1:500, 0.25 $\mu g/\mu l$). The next day the membranes were incubated for an additional 2 hours at room temperature before washing 5 times quickly with deionized water, and once with TBS (pH 7.4) for 5 minutes. Membranes were then incubated with the appropriate peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) at a 1:40,000 dilution in 3% TBS-milk at room

temperature for 2 hours, washed as described above, and processed with ECL solution (Amersham) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

2.3. Immunofluorescence

Cells were grown to 60 - 80% confluency on 22 mm cover slips (Fisher Scientific) in 6-well dishes. The cells were washed once with 2 ml cold PBS and then permeabilized and fixed with 1 ml 100% cold methanol at -20°C for 10 minutes. After fixing, cells were washed twice with 2 ml cold PBS and then blocked with a 3% milk-PBS mixture at room temperature. The cells were then stained with the appropriate primary antibody diluted in 3% milk-PBS for 30 minutes at room temperature. The antibodies used were as follows: Kaiso 12G monoclonal antibody (1:200 dilution), p120 F1 rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:600 dilution), E-cadherin monoclonal antibody (1:200 dilution), or a negative control (3% milk-PBS alone). Following incubation in primary antibody the cells were washed 3 times with PBS and then quickly incubated with the 3% milk-PBS mixture. Cells were subsequently incubated with a secondary antibody-milk mixture for 30 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Alexa594-conjugated antimouse IgG (Molecular Probes) and Alexa488-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (Molecular Probes) were used at a 1:300 dilution. 10 μ g/ml Hoechst DNA staining reagent (Sigma) was also added to the secondary antibody-milk mixture at a 1:20 dilution. After incubation with secondary antibody the cells were washed as described above. The cover slips were then mounted on slides with Poly-Aquamount (PolyScience) and the cells were imaged using a Zeiss Axiovert fluorescent microscope.

2.4. Serum Stimulation and Starvation of Cells

Prior to chromatin immunoprecipitation, cells were subjected to conditions of serum stimulation or serum starvation. 24 hours prior to crosslinking, cells at ~70% to 80% confluency were washed once with PBS and then replenished with fresh media. For conditions of serum stimulation, the media contained all supplements including Fetal Bovine Serum or Horse Serum, and for conditions of serum starvation the media contained all supplements but lacked Fetal Bovine Serum or Horse Serum. The cells were then incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ humidified incubator for 24 hours until the initiation of chromatin immunoprecipitation.

2.5. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

MCF-12A, MDA-468, MCF-7 and MDA-231 cells were grown to 90% confluency on 100 mm tissue culture dishes. Cells were then incubated for 1 hour at room temperature in their growth medium with 1% formaldehyde to crosslink protein/DNA complexes. The crosslinking reaction was then stopped with 0.125 M glycine, after which cells were washed twice with cold 1X PBS and harvested into tubes in PBS-PMSF. The cells were pelleted at 5000 rpm at 4°C for 5 minutes, resuspended in Cell Lysis Solution (5 mM PIPES pH 8, 85 mM KCl, 0.5% NP40), and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. The nuclei were then pelletted at 5000 rpm for 5 minutes and the supernatant removed. The nuclear pellet was lysed in Nuclei Lysis Buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 10 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% SDS) on ice for ten minutes followed by sonication to break chromatin into 600 bp fragments. The sonicated samples were centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatants were precleared with equilibrated Protein-A-Sepharose beads. Precleared lysates were incubated overnight with 4 μg of each antibody at 4°C.

The next day immune complexes were captured by Rabbit-Anti-Mouse IgGconjugated Protein-A-Sepharose beads for one hour and subsequently washed 3 times in IP Wash Buffer (100 mM Tris-Cl pH 8, 500 mM LiCl, 1% NP40, 1% Deoxycholic acid). The antibody-antigen-promoter complexes were eluted once by adding 30 μ l of IP Elution Buffer (50 mM NaHCO₃, 1% SDS) to each sample, followed by light vortexing for 30 minutes. A second elution was performed using 30 μ l of IP Elution Buffer and light vortexing for 15 minutes, and eluates were combined into one tube. Each sample was then treated with RNase A at 67°C for 5 hours to remove RNA and to reverse formaldehyde crosslinks, followed by ethanol precipitation. The precipitated products were treated with Proteinase K at 45°C for 2 hours followed by two rounds of phenolchloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation. The DNA pellets were resuspended in 10 μ l of dH₂0 and 2 μ l of this volume was used for PCR analysis. 10% of input from genomic DNA (not treated with antibody) was used as a positive control in the PCR reaction. The following primers specific for the region flanking the KBS at position -1118 within the human cyclin D1 promoter were used for PCR: 5'-TTT ACA TCT GCT TAA GTT TGC G-3' (forward) and 5'-TTA GAA TTT GCC CTG GGA CT-3' (reverse).

2.6. Plasmid Constructs

<u>Glutathione-S-transferase (GST)-Kaiso fusion proteins were generated using</u> conventional sub-cloning methods. Human Kaiso cDNA was amplified by PCR using Pfu polymerase or Pfu turbo (Fermentas) according to manufacturer's instructions. The primer sets used and resulting constructs are outlined in Table 1. PCR products were digested 5' with *BamHI* and 3' with *EcoRI* and ligated in-frame with the GST gene of the pGEX-5X-1 vector previously digested with the same restriction enzymes. All clones were verified by sequencing by the Mobix facility (McMaster University), after which they were transformed into chemically competent BL21 *E.coli* for subsequent protein expression induction and purification.

Table 1: Generation of GST-hKaiso constructs.

(A) All primers were 30 nucleotides long. *BamHI* recognition sites are depicted in <u>red</u> <u>underlined</u> font, while *EcoRI* recognition sites are depicted in <u>blue underlined</u> font.

Mobix ID	Primer Name	Sequence
ML13873	GST-hKaiso-for	5' CTA GTC GGG ATC CCC ATG GAG AGT AGA AAA 3'
ML13874	GST-hKaiso-rev	5' CTA GTC GAA TTC TTA GTA AGA CTC TGG TAT 3'
ML13875	GST-h∆POZ-for	5' CTA GTC GGG ATC CCC GAG CTT GGT GTC CCA 3'
ML13876	GST-h∆ZF-rev	5' CTA GTC GAA TTC TTA GAC ATA TGA CCT TTT 3'
ML13877	GST-hZF-for	5' CTA GTC GGG ATC CCC ATA GTA GAT GGA AGG 3'
ML13878	GST-hZF123-rev	5' CTA GTC GAA TTC TTA AAG CTT TGA GTC CCC 3'
ML14723	GST-∆AR1-for	5' CTA GTC GGG ATC CCC GTC ATT TTT TGC TCC 3'
ML14724	GST-∆AR2-for	5' CTA GTC GGG ATC CCC ACT ATT AGC TCC AGT 3'
ML15096	GST-hZF-for-2	5' CTA GTC GGG ATC CCC GGG GAG GCC AGA CTT 3'

(B) A panel of GST-hKaiso fusion constructs were generated using combinations of the above primers as outlined below.

Construct Name	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer	Nucleotides Amplified
GST-hKaiso	GST-hKaiso-for	GST-hKaiso-rev	1-2109 (2109 bp)
GST-h∆POZ	GST-h∆POZ-for	GST-hKaiso-rev	342 – 2019 (1677 bp)
$GST-h\Delta POZ\Delta ZF$	GST-h∆POZ-for	GST-h∆ZF-rev	342 – 1512 (1170 bp)
GST-hcterm	GST-hZF-for	GST-hKaiso-rev	1458 – 2019 (561 bp)
GST-hZF123	GST-hZF-for	GST-hZF123-rev	1458 – 1749 (291 bp)
GST-h∆AR1	$GST-\Delta AR1$ -for	GST-hKaiso-rev	582 – 2019 (1437 bp)
GST-h∆AR2	$GST-\Delta AR2$ -for	GST-hKaiso-rev	1021 – 2019 (998 bp)
GST-hZF	GST-hZF-for-2	GST-hKaiso-rev	1362 – 2019 (657 bp)

2.7. Protein Expression Induction and Purification

BL21 bacteria containing various pGEX-5X-1 GST-Kaiso fusion constructs were incubated at 37°C for 16 hours overnight in 12 mL of LB media treated with Ampicillin (LB-Amp). The next morning 90 mL of LB-Amp media was inoculated with 10 mL of the overnight culture and incubated at 30°C on a shaking platform for 90 minutes. The cultures were then induced to express GST-Kaiso fusion protein using 0.1 mM IPTG, and were incubated for an additional 3 hours at 30°C. The bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C, and frozen overnight.

The next morning, the frozen bacterial pellets were thawed on ice and then resuspended in ice-cold PBS/0.1% NP-40. The cells were lysed by sonication for 3 minutes at 40% output and duty cycle 4. Sonicated lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 20 minutes at 4°C, after which GST beads were added to the lysates and the mixture incubated with rotation at room temperature for one hour. The protein-bead complexes were captured and washed twice with 1X binding buffer (25 mM Hepes (pH 7.5), 100 mM KCL, 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% NP-40, 5% glycerol, 1mM DTT). Proteins were eluted from the beads using 10 mM glutathione and quantitated prior to use in electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA).

2.8. Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assays

30-mer oligonucleotides derived from the *cyclin D1* promoter as outlined in Table 2, were annealed to create double-stranded probes and purified from a polyacrylamide gel. 50 ng of double-stranded oligonucleotides were radiolabelled by incubation with

1 μ l of γ^{32} P dATP, 1 μ l of polynucleotide kinase buffer, 1 μ l of polynucleotide kinase (New England Biolabs), and dH₂0 to give a final volume of 10 μ l. The reaction was incubated at 37°C for 45 minutes, terminated with 25 mM EDTA, and then purified through a Chromaspin TE-10 column (Clontech). For methylation-specific experiments, CpG-methylated probes were generated by first incubating the double-stranded oligonucleotides with 1 μ l of Sss.I methylase, 1 μ l of NEB buffer 2, and 160 mM Sadenosyl-methionine (SAM) at 37°C for 45 minutes. The enzyme was subsequently heatinactivated at 65°C for 15 minutes prior to probe radiolabelling. 1 μ l of labelled probe was mixed with 3 μ g poly dI-DC, 5 μ g BSA, 4.8% glycerol, 5 μ l binding buffer (25 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 100 mM KCL, 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% NP-40, 5% glycerol, and 1 mM DTT), and 150 ng to 250 ng of purified GST-Kaiso protein. This binding reaction was incubated at 37°C for 25 minutes and then incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The samples were loaded onto a 4% non-denaturing poly-acrylamide gel (0.5X TBE, 2.5% glycerol, 4% acrylamide, 0.06% APS, and Temed), and electrophoresed at 200V for $2^{1}/_{2}$ hours. The gel was then dried at 80°C for 1 hour and visualized by autoradiography.

<u>Table 2</u>: cyclin D1 promoter-derived oligomers used for electrophoretic mobility shift assays.

(A) cyclin D1 promoter -1118 KBS: <u>Kaiso binding sites</u> (KBS) are underlined, and mutant nucleotides are depicted in bold underlined font.

CD1-1118 KBS	Corresponding cyclin D1-derived probes
Wild type	Top strand (ML5102):
TCCTGCCA	5' TTA TGC CGG C <u>TC CTG CCA</u> GCC CCC TCA CGC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML5103):
	5' GCG TGA GGG GGC <u>TGG CAG GA</u> G CCG GCA TAA 3'
Mutant 1	Top Strand (ML5104):
TC <u>A</u> TGCCA	5' TTA TGC CGG C <u>TC ATG CCA</u> GCC CCC TCA CGC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML5105):
	5' GCG TGA GGG GGC <u>TGG CAT GA</u> G CCG GCA TAA 3'
Mutant 2	Top strand (ML9065):
TCCT TT CA	5' TTA TGC CGG C <u>TC CTT TCA</u> GCC CCC TCA CGC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML9066):
	5' GCG TGA GGG GGC <u>TGA AAG GA</u> G CCG GCA TAA 3'
Mutant 3	Top strand (ML14543):
TC <u>A</u> T <u>TA</u> CA	5' TTA TGC CGG C <u>TC ATT ACA</u> GCC CCC TCA CGC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML14544):
	5' GCG TGA GGG GGC <u>TGT AAT GA</u> G CCG GCA TAA 3'

<u>Table 2</u>: cyclin D1 promoter-derived oligomers used for electrophoretic mobility shift assays.

(B) cyclin D1 promoter +24 KBS: <u>K</u>aiso <u>b</u>inding <u>s</u>ites (KBS) are underlined, and mutant nucleotides are depicted in bold underlined font.

CD1+24 KBS	Corresponding cyclin D1-derived probes
Wild type	Top strand (ML7934):
CTGCTA	5' CTG TCG GCG CAG TAG CAG CGA GCA GCA GAC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML7935):
	5' GTC TGC TGC TCG CTG CTA CTG CTG CGC CGA CAG 3'
Mutant 1	Top strand (ML7936):
<u>A</u> TGCTA	5' CTG TCG GCG CAG <u>TAG CAT</u> CGA GCA GCA GAC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML7937):
	5' GTC TGC TGC TCG <u>ATG CTA</u> CTG CTG CGC CGA CAG 3'
Mutant 2	Top strand (ML8632):
СТ <u>Т</u> СТА	5' CTG TCG GCG CAG <u>TAG AAG</u> CGA GCA GCA GAC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML8633):
	5' GTC TGC TGC TCG <u>CTT CTA</u> CTG CTG CGC CGA CAG 3'
Mutant 3	Top strand (ML9063):
CT TT TA	5' CTG TCG GCG CAG <u>TAA AAG</u> CGA GCA GCA GAC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML9064):
	5' GTC TGC TGC TCG <u>CTT TTA</u> CTG CTG CGC CGA CAG 3'
Mutant 4	Top strand (ML14545):
ATTTA	5' CTG TCG GCG CAG <u>TAA AAT</u> CGA GCA GCA GAC 3'
	Bottom strand (ML14546):
	5' GTC TGC TGC TCG <u>ATT TTA</u> CTG CTG CGC CGA CAG 3'

2.9. Site-directed mutagenesis

To generate *cyclin D1* promoter KBS point mutant constructs for use in artificial promoter assays the pGL3 Basic-1748CD1 construct (a kind gift of Dr. Osamu Tetsu, USCF) was used as a template for site-directed mutagenesis of the CD1–1118 KBS and the CD1+24 KBS, using the Quikchange site-directed mutagenesis kit according to manufacturer's protocol (Stratagene). The two KBS elements located in the 1748CD1 construct were mutated as outlined in Table 3. After verifying by sequencing that the mutations had been successfully incorporated, the mutant sites were subcloned back into the wild type backbone vector to generate single and double KBS point mutant constructs for subsequent use in artificial promoter assays, as described in Table 4.

Table 3: Site-directed mutagenesis of *cyclin D1* promoter KBS elements.

(A) CD1-1118 site directed mutagenesis primers: $\underline{K}aiso \underline{b}inding \underline{s}ites$ (KBS) are underlined, and mutant nucleotides are depicted in bold underlined font.

Mutation Desired	Primers used to generate point mutation(s) in plasmid DNA
TCCTGCCA	Forward primer (ML6694):
↓	5' GAA TTA TGC CGG C <u>TC ATG CCA</u> GGCC CCC TCA CG 3'
TC <u>A</u> TGCCA	Reverse primer (ML6695):
	5' CG TGA GGG GGC <u>TGG CAT GA</u> G CCG GCA TAA TTC 3'
TCCTGCCA	Forward primer (ML13784):
	5' CTG AAT TAT GCC GGC <u>TCA TTA CA</u> G CCC CCT CAC
	GCT C 3'
TC <u>A</u> T <u>TA</u> CA	
	Reverse primer (ML13785):
	5' GAG CGT GAG GGG GC <u>T GTA ATG A</u> GC CGG CAT AAT
	TCA G 3'

(B) CD1+24 site directed mutagenesis primers: <u>K</u>aiso <u>b</u>inding <u>s</u>ites (KBS) are underlined, and mutant nucleotides are depicted in bold underlined font.

Mutation Desired	Primers used to generate point mutation(s) in plasmid DNA		
CTGCTA	Forward primer (ML6692):		
	5' GCT GTC GGC GCA G <u>TA GCA T</u> CG AGC AGC AGA GTC		
V	CG 3'		
ATGCTA			
	Reverse primer (ML6693):		
	5' CG GAC TCT GCT GCT CG <u>A TGC TAC</u> TGC GCC GAC AGC		
	3'		
CTGCTA	Forward primer (ML13786):		
	5' GCT GTC GGC GCA G <u>TA AAA T</u> CG AGC AGC AGA GTC		
★	CG 3'		
ATTTA			
	Reverse primer (ML 13787):		
	5' CGG ACT CTG CTG CTC G <u>AT TTT A</u> CT GCG CCG ACA GC		
	3'		

2.10. Luciferase Assays

24 hours prior to transfection, cells were seeded onto 6-well dishes at 60% confluency, and incubated overnight (37°C, 5% CO₂). All transfections were performed using the ExGen-500 reagent (MBI Fermentas). For each transfection, plasmid DNA was diluted in 150 mM NaCl, ExGen-500 was added to the DNA-NaCl solution, and the mixture was gently vortexed. All transfections were performed using 0.2 μ g of reporter construct DNA and up to 1 μ g of effector DNA, as outlined in Table 4, with the addition of 3 μ l of ExGen-500 per 1 μ g of DNA. The mixture was incubated without agitation at RT for 10 minutes to allow reagent/DNA complex formation, before its addition to the cells in supplemented DMEM. The cells were incubated with the DNA complexes for 5 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂, after which the transfection mixture was aspirated, and the cells were replenished with fresh media. The cells were then incubated for an additional 25 hours in supplemented DMEM medium before initiation of the assay.

30 hours post-transfection, each well was washed twice with PBS, treated with 350 μ L of **P**assive Lysis **B**uffer (PLB) (Promega) and the plates were incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes with vigorous shaking. Lysates were resuspended by pipetting, after which 50 μ L of lysate from each well was assayed using 100 μ L of Luciferase Assay Reagent (Promega) for artificial promoter activity on a luminometer (Fisher Scientific). Each experimental condition was performed in triplicate, and the results displayed are representative of at least three separate experimental trials.

<u>Table 4</u>: Reporters and effectors used in artificial promoter assays.

(A) Reporters:

Construct Name	Characteristics		
pGL3 Basic 1748CD1	~2kb fragment of the wild type human <i>cyclin D1</i> promoter containing nucleotides -1748 to $+134$ with respect to the transcriptional start site. Contains two KBS.		
pGL3 Basic 962CD1	~1.1kb fragment of the wild type human <i>cyclin D1</i> promoter containing nucleotides -962 to $+134$ with respect to the transcriptional start site. Contains one KBS.		
1MK2MK-CD1	A KBS double mutant construct derived from 1748CD1 in which both cyclin D1 promoter KBS contain single nucleotide mutations. CD1-1118 (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TC <u>A</u> TGCCA), CD1+24 (CTGCTA \rightarrow <u>A</u> TGCTA).		
KBS(1,2)mt-CD1	A KBS double mutant construct derived from 1748CD1 in which both <i>cyclin D1</i> promoter KBS contain triple nucleotide mutations. CD1-1118 (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TC <u>A</u> T <u>TA</u> CA), CD1+24 (CTGCTA \rightarrow AT <u>TT</u> TA).		

(B) Effectors:

Effector Name	Purpose	
pcDNA3-hKaiso	Overexpression of human Kaiso	
pRc/RSV-p120 1A	Overexpression of murine p120 ^{ctn} isoform 1A	
pCAN- Δ N89 β -catenin	Overexpression of constitutively active	
	human β-catenin	
pSilencer siRNA Kaiso 544	Kaiso mRNA depletion via nucleotides 544 to 562	

2.11. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR.

HeLa (cervical carcinoma) and MCF-7 (breast carcinoma) cells were used for these preliminary semi-quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) experiments. Cells were seeded onto 100 mm tissue culture dishes 24 hours prior to transfection to reach a low confluency (30-40%) at the time of transfection. The cells were transfected with 6 μ g of pcDNA3-hKaiso overexpression or siRNA Kaiso 544 depletion vectors incubated at 37°C for 6 hours before transfection complexes were replaced with fresh media. HeLa cells were transfected with the ExGen-500 transfection reagent, while MCF-7 cells were transfected with the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer instructions. 24 hours post-transfection when the cells had reached 50-60% confluency, whole cell RNA was harvested from each plate of cells using the RNEasy Kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer protocol. The isolated RNA was then utilized for one-step semi-quantitative RT-PCR to analyse the effects of Kaiso misexpression on cyclin D1 transcript levels. Briefly, 0.25 to 1.0 μ g of RNA was utilized in each experiment, in which specific primers amplified Kaiso, cyclin D1, and GAPDH first strand synthesis cDNA products.

The primer sequences used to amplify the mRNA products are as follows: Kaiso forward 5'-TGC CTA TTA TAA CAG AGT CTT T-3', Kaiso reverse 5'-AGT AGG TGT GAT ATT TGT TAA AG-3', cyclin D1 forward 5'TCA ATT GTG TGC AGA AGG AGG-3', cyclin D1 reverse 5'-GGA AGC GGT CCA GGT AGT TCA-3', GAPDH forward 5'-GAAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGT-3', GAPDH reverse

5'-GAAGATGGTGATGGGGATTTC-3'. Kaiso overexpression and depletion were verified by immunoprecipitation and Western blot.

Results

3.1. Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin are differentially expressed in breast cell lines.

Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin expression have been characterized by us and other groups in various epithelial and fibroblast cell lines. However, our recent interest in Kaiso's potential role in breast tumourigenesis led us to further examine Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin expression profiles specifically in breast epithelial tumour and non-tumour cell lines. Whole cell lysates from a panel of breast tumour (MCF-7, MDA-468, T47D, MDA-231, and SK-BR-3) and non-tumour (MCF-12A and MCF-10A) cell lines were examined for Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin protein expression by immunoprecipitation and Western Blot analysis. Prior to immunoprecipitation all lysates were standardized to equal protein content.

Kaiso migrates as a 100 kDa phosphoprotein doublet in all the cell lines tested (Figure 8, top panel). Previous studies from our laboratory demonstrated that the slower migrating Kaiso band represents a phosphorylated form of Kaiso (Daniel lab, unpublished data). In MCF-7 and SK-BR-3 cells, Kaiso is detected at a level that is approximately 2-fold higher than the other cell lines tested, which generally express Kaiso at low levels. Interestingly, Kaiso expression was difficult to detect in MCF-12A cells.

To analyze the p120 expression profile, immunoprecipitation and Western blot analyses were performed using the p120-specific monoclonal antibody 15D2. This



Figure 8: Characterization of Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin expression in breast epithelial cell lines. Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot analyses were performed on whole cell lysates from a panel of breast tumour and non tumour cell lines to determine the protein expression profiles of Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin. Kaiso migrates as a 100 kDa phosphoprotein doublet in all the cell lines tested. However, in the tumour cell lines, p120 is mainly expressed as two phosphorylated isoforms, isoform 1 (slowly migrating band) and isoform 3 (quickly migrating band), while the non-tumour cell lines express mainly isoform 3 of p120. E-cadherin is expressed in all of the tested cell lines except for MDA-231 and SK-BR-3.

monoclonal antibody recognizes all known isoforms of p120 (135), and is thus an ideal tool to assay for p120 expression. In the tumour cell lines tested, p120 is mainly expressed as two phosphorylated isoforms, isoform 1 (slowly migrating band in Figure 8, centre panel) and isoform 3 (faster migrating band in Figure 8, centre panel). The non-tumour cell lines, however, express mainly isoform 3 of p120. The thick, blurry banding observed with the majority of the p120 isoforms on SDS-PAGE has been previously demonstrated to be representative of p120 phosphorylation (127).

E-cadherin is expressed in all of the tested cell lines except for MDA-231 and SK-BR-3 (Figure 8, bottom panel). Interestingly, E-cadherin migrates as a doublet in MCF-7 and T47-D cells, which may be due to incompletely processed or glycosylated E-cadherin molecules.

3.2. Subcellular localization of Kaiso and p120 in different cell lines.

Immunofluoresence analysis was performed on the non-tumour MCF-12A and MCF-10A, and tumour-derived SK-BR-3 cells to investigate the subcellular compartments in which Kaiso and p120 are localized. In all three cell lines, Kaiso localized predominantly to nuclei (Figure 9), however some cytoplasmic Kaiso was also detected in SK-BR-3 cells (Figure 9C). In contrast, p120 demonstrated cell-line specific localization patterns. In MCF-12A cells, p120 localized predominantly to cell-cell junctions (Figure 9A). In MCF-10A cells, p120 was observed at cell-cell junctions as well as throughout the cytoplasm (Figure 9B), whereas p120 was observed mostly in the cytoplasm and somewhat in the nucleus in SK-BR-3 cells (Figure 9C).



Figure 9: Kaiso and p120 sub-cellular localization. In all the cell lines tested, Kaiso localized predominantly to cell nuclei. p120, however, demonstrated cell-line specific localization patterns. In the MCF-12A cell line, p120 was observed to localize predominantly to cell-cell junctions. In MCF-10A cells, p120 was observed at cell-cell junctions as well as throughout the cytoplasm. In SK-BR-3 cells, p120 was observed mostly in the cytoplasm and somewhat in the nucleus.

3.3. Kaiso and p120 interact in breast cell lines independent of E-cadherin expression.

To determine if an interaction between Kaiso and p120 could be detected in our panel of breast cancer cell lines, co-immunoprecipitation and Western blot analyses were utilized. Using this methodology we also wanted to determine if a correlation existed between the p120/Kaiso interaction and E-cadherin expression. These analyses were performed only in MCF-12A, MCF-10A (non tumour) and SK-BR-3 (tumour) cells since similar analyses were previously done with the breast tumour cell lines (MCF-7, T47-D, MDA-468, and MDA-231), in which p120/Kaiso interaction was successfully detected (84). Kaiso protein was detected in p120 immunocomplexes from MCF-10A and SK-BR-3 cells (Figure 10, compare top and bottom panels) while Kaiso protein could not be detected in p120 immunocomplexes from MCF-12A cells (Figure 10, compare top and bottom panels). Moreover, in MCF-10A cells, it appeared that primarily unphosphorylated Kaiso coprecipitated with p120, but this was never further verified.

Interestingly, the p120/Kaiso interaction was observed irrespective of E-cadherin expression. An interaction was detected in MDA-231 and SK-BR-3 cells, which lack E-cadherin, but not in MCF-12A cells, which express E-cadherin. The other tumour cell lines in which we observed a p120/Kaiso interaction all express E-cadherin. The lack of correlation between the p120/Kaiso interaction and E-cadherin expression in these breast cell lines led us to search for other factors that may ultimately influence Kaiso-p120 interaction in these cell lines.



Figure 10: Characterization of Kaiso and p120 interaction by immunoprecipiation. The p120/Kaiso interaction is observed in two of the three cell lines tested. To test for specificity of observed co-precipitations, the KT3 unrelated antibody was used as a negative control during immunoprecipitation. Note that the interaction is only detected in one direction, i.e. p120 co-precipitates Kaiso but not vice-versa.

Through literature searches I discovered that cyclin D1 protein is expressed at normal levels in MCF-12A (non-tumour) and MCF-7 and MDA-231 (tumour cells) (Table 5). However cyclin D1 protein is expressed at low levels in MDA-468 tumour cells (Table 5). Kaiso, E-cadherin, and Cyclin D1 expression profiles, and tumourigenicty characteristics of the MCF-12A (non tumour) and MCF-7, MDA-468, and MDA-231 (tumour) cell lines are summarized in (Table 5); however, there does not appear to be any obvious correlation between the p120/Kaiso interaction and these parameters. Nevertheless, these four cell lines were selected to continue in further experiments to specifically investigate how Kaiso may affect *cyclin D1* regulation in the context of breast tumourigenesis.

Table 5: Comparison of E-cadherin and cyclin D1 expression in selected breast tumour and non-tumour epithelial cell lines. A literature search was carried out to determine the expression levels of cyclin D1 protein in selected breast cell lines. Cyclin D1 is expressed at normal levels in MCF-12A, MCF-7, and MDA-231 cells and is expressed at low levels in MDA-468 cells. This information was coupled with our Kaiso and E-cadherin expression data and cell line tumourigenicity information obtained from ATCC to create a profile for each cell line.

Name	Tumourigenicity	Kaiso Expression	E-cadherin Expression	Cyclin D1 expression
MCF-12A	Non Tumour	Low	Yes	Normal
MDA-468	Tumour	Normal	Yes	Low
MDA-231	Tumour	Normal	No	Normal
MCF-7	Tumour	High	Yes	Normal
3.4. Kaiso binds the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo in a growth factor-dependent manner.

MCF-12A (non tumour), MCF-7, MDA-468, and MDA-231 (tumour) breast epithelial cells were chosen to determine if Kaiso associates with the *cyclin D1* promoter *in vivo*. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) with Kaiso-specific antibodies was performed, followed by PCR amplification of the *cyclin D1* promoter region flanking the CD1–1118 KBS located within the promoter. We initially chose to focus on this KBS because it contains the entire 8-nucleotide KBS sequence, and we hypothesized that this KBS might have a more significant role in *cyclin D1* regulation. The CD1+24 KBS contains only the core 6-nucleotide consensus, thus leading us to speculate that Kaiso may not bind as efficiently to this sequence.

Our analyses demonstrated that Kaiso specifically binds the *cyclin D1* promoter *in vivo* in all four cell lines tested, but only under specific conditions of serum stimulation or starvation (Figure 11). In MCF-12A and MDA-468 cells, Kaiso association with the *cyclin D1* promoter can only be detected if the cells have been serum starved for at least 24 hours. Conversely, in MCF-7 and MDA-231 cells, Kaiso association with the *cyclin D1* promoter can only be detected in cells that have been propagated in serum-supplemented media. The findings are summarized in Table 6 alongside each cell line profile. This result suggests that Kaiso's association with the *cyclin D1* promoter is dependent upon the presence and/or absence of mitogen stimulation, which in turn could be dependent upon unique molecular factors in each cell line. This effect may be direct or perhaps through Kaiso's interactions with other proteins, such as p120, which is phosphorylated upon growth factor stimulation (22, 26).





<u>Table 6</u>: Summary of serum-dependent Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter. ChIP analyses indicate that Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in selected breast tumour and non-tumour cells, however this is dependent on the presence or absence of serum in cell culture media.

Name	Serum Status (Kaiso promoter binding)	Tumourigenicity	Kaiso Expression	E-cadherin Expression	Cyclin D1 expression
MCF-12A	Serum absent	Non Tumour	Low	Yes	Normal
MDA-468	Serum absent	Tumour	Normal	Yes	Low
MDA-231	Serum present	Tumour	Normal	No	Normal
MCF-7	Serum present	Tumour	High	Yes	Normal

3.5. p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in MCF-7 cells.

Our initial characterization of Kaiso and p120 expression and interaction in our panel of breast tumour and non-tumour cell lines demonstrated a clear and reproducible interaction between Kaiso and p120 in MCF-7 cells (84). I thus proceeded to determine if p120 could also be detected in association with the cyclin D1 promoter via ChIP assays using the MCF-7 cell line. Although previous experiments from our lab showed that p120 inhibits Kaiso's DNA binding in vitro, we predicted that the ChIP initial crosslinking step would preserve any p120/Kaiso complexes that may associate with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo. The ChIP assays were performed in serum stimulated conditions, as those were the conditions in which Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter could be detected in MCF-7 cells. We were able to efficiently detect cyclin D1 promoter fragments from immunocomplexes isolated with the p120-specific antibody 15D2 (Figure 12), indicating that p120, like Kaiso, associates with the cyclin D1 promoter. To determine if p120 association with the cyclin D1 promoter was through its interaction with Kaiso, cells were depleted of Kaiso by short interfering **RNA** (siRNA) methodologies and subsequently assayed by ChIP for p120 association with the cyclin D1 promoter. However, these experiments were inconclusive and difficult to interpret (data not shown) therefore additional experiments are required to further characterize p120 association with the cyclin D1 promoter.



Figure 12: p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo. Chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments were performed in MCF-7 breast tumour cells using p120 and Kaiso-specific antibodies. Cyclin D1 promoter fragments were efficiently purified and amplified from p120 immunocomplexes, in a similar manner to Kaiso.

3.6. Kaiso binds cyclin D1 promoter-derived probes in vitro.

Following our *in vivo* characterization of Kaiso binding to the *cyclin D1* promoter in breast tumour and non-tumour cell lines, we initiated experiments to further characterize and test the specificity of this binding *in vitro*. Using electrophoretic **m**obility shift assays (EMSA) we analyzed the ability for human Kaiso to bind 30-mer oligos derived from the CD1-1118 KBS. We also tested the ability of Kaiso to bind oligos derived from the CD1+24 KBS to determine if this KBS contributed to Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter. Our analyses were carried out using GST-Kaiso fusion proteins. We chose to utilize POZ deletion mutant proteins in these assays because full-length POZ proteins are rarely used for *in vitro* DNA binding assays due to POZ domain inhibition of *in vitro* protein-DNA interactions (8). The GST-Kaiso fusion proteins that were prepared and purified for use in these assays are as follows: GST-Kaiso- ΔPOZ (h ΔPOZ) lacking the N-terminus portion of Kaiso that includes the POZ domain; GST-Kaiso- Δ AR1 and GST-Kaiso- Δ AR2 (h Δ AR1 and h Δ AR2) which lack the N-terminal portion of Kaiso up to and including the first and second highly conserved acidic regions (AR) respectively; and GST-Kaiso-ZF (hZF) which consists of the Cterminal portion of Kaiso containing the three DNA-binding zinc fingers (Figure 14). GST-only and GST-Kaiso- $\Delta POZ\Delta ZF$ (h $\Delta POZ\Delta ZF$) proteins were used as negative controls. GST does not possess any intrinsic DNA-binding capabilities and h Δ POZ Δ ZF lacks the POZ and zinc finger domains, which are the two characterized Kaiso functional domains (Figure 14).

Repeated experiments determined that the various human GST-Kaiso fusion proteins bind the fully conserved CD1-1118 KBS, albeit with differing affinities (Figure 15, left panel). The hZF protein exhibited the strongest DNA binding capability while the h Δ POZ protein exhibited the weakest DNA binding ability. A single base pair point mutation in the fully conserved KBS (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TCATGCCA) completely abolished GST-Kaiso protein binding to the *cyclin D1* promoter probe (Figure 15). Surprisingly, human Kaiso did not bind the CD1+24 KBS (Figure 16), which only possesses the core consensus sequence. A single base pair point mutation introduced into the KBS of this probe (CTGCTA \rightarrow <u>A</u>TGCTA) had no additive or diminutive effect to this lack of binding (Figure 16).



Figure 13: A schematic representation of the human Kaiso deletion mutants fused to GST. (A) A schematic diagram of the human Kaiso cDNA constructs generated depict the Kaiso POZ domain in purple, acidic regions in teal, and the zinc fingers in blue, yellow, and green. (B) All Kaiso fusion constructs were designed to be fused in frame to the C-terminus of GST. The lactose promoter upstream of the GST cDNA allows for efficient protein induction in bacteria following treatment of bacterial cultures with IPTG (a lactose homologue).



500 ng protein per lane

Figure 14: Preparation and purification of GST-hKaiso fusion proteins. GST-hKaiso cDNA constructs, and a GST-only cDNA construct, were induced to express protein in BL21 bacteria cells. The proteins were then purified and used in electrophoretic mobility shift assays. Bands of interest are denoted by an asterisk (*) in lanes where more than one strongly stained band was observed.



Figure 15: Kaiso specifically binds the cyclin D1 promoter -1118 KBS in vitro. Purified GST-hKaiso fusion proteins were incubated with radiolabeled oligonucleoides generated from the cyclin D1 promoter and subjected to electrophoresis and autoradiography. The GST-Kaiso fusion protein constructs bind the wild type CD1-1118 KBS with varying affinities, with hZF showing the highest affinity for DNA binding. A single base pair mutation (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TC<u>A</u>TGCCA) in the KBS completely abolishes all binding. Non-specific bands are indiciated by the arrowhead.



Figure 16: Kaiso does not bind the *cyclin D1* promoter +24 KBS *in vitro*. Purified GST-hKaiso proteins were incubated with radiolabelled *cyclin D1* promoter +24 KBS-derived probes. Kaiso does not bind the wild type CD1+24 KBS. A single base pair mutation (CTGCTA \rightarrow <u>A</u>TGCTA) in the KBS did not affect binding.

3.7. Kaiso represses the cyclin D1 promoter in a dose-dependent manner.

Once we established that Kaiso binds the *cyclin D1* promoter *in vivo* and *in vitro*, we next examined Kaiso's transcriptional effect on this promoter using the luciferase assay system. HeLa cells were chosen for use in luciferase assays due to their high transfection efficiency and their endogenous p120/Kaiso interaction. The 1748CD1 wild type *cyclin D1* promoter luciferase reporter contains two of the three KBS elements within the human *cyclin D1* promoter region (Figure 17). Cells were transfected with 0.2 μ g of 1748CD1 reporter plasmid and incremental amounts of pcDNA3-Kaiso effector plasmid up to 1.0 μ g, and were incubated for 30 hours. After 30 hours cells were lysed, assayed, and the results analyzed. Our initial experiments clearly demonstrated that co-transfection of the 1748CD1 construct and human Kaiso in HeLa cells resulted in the repression of luciferase expression in a dose-dependent manner to a saturation level of 2-fold repression (Figure 18).

A. Human cyclin D1 promoter



Figure 17: Schematic diagram of the 1748CD1 artificial promoter construct. The pGL3 Basic 1748CD1 artificial promoter construct contains a partial human *cyclin D1* promoter sequence (1748CD1), spanning nucleotides -1748 to +134 relative to the transcriptional start site (compare A to B). (B) The 1748CD1 construct contains two of the three *cyclin D1* promoter KBS elements. (C) The 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* promoter fragment was cloned into the pGL3 Basic luciferase assay reporter backbone vector. In this system the *cyclin D1* minimal promoter controls the luciferase-reporter gene expression.



Figure 18: Kaiso represses transcription from the cyclin D1 promoter in a dosedependent manner. (A) The 1748CD1 minimal cyclin D1 promoter construct was co-transfected with increasing amounts of human Kaiso expression vector, up to 1.0 μ g, in HeLa cells. Kaiso overexpression in this system results in an enhanced repression of luciferase as Kaiso expression increases to achieve a maximum 2-fold repression. (B) Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot demonstrate that Kaiso is efficiently overexpressed in HeLa cells.

3.8. p120 activates the cyclin D1 promoter.

As a next step in characterizing Kaiso's transcriptional regulation of the cyclin D1 promoter, I investigated p120's ability to modulate this function. Previous studies from our lab have indicated that p120 inhibits Kaiso's sequence-specific DNA-binding and relieves Kaiso transcriptional repression of the 4xKBS artificial promoter (119). I initially tested p120's ability to regulate the cyclin D1 promoter by co-transfecting the 1748CD1 reporter construct along with a p120 expression construct. Indeed ectopic p120 activated the cyclin D1 promoter approximately 1.5-fold (Figure 19A,B), providing our first indication that p120 overexpression had an effect on luciferase expression from the cyclin D1 promoter. Next, to determine if this activation occured through the p120/Kaiso interaction, Kaiso and p120 expression plasmid vectors were co-transfected with the 1748CD1 cyclin D1 promoter reporter vector and the cells were subsequently assayed for luciferase expression. Contrary to our predictions, p120 was unable to relieve Kaisomediated repression of the cyclin D1 promoter (Figure 19C). Specifically, cotransfection of p120 along with Kaiso did not have any effect on luciferase repression observed when Kaiso was transfected in the absence of p120 (Figure 19C), suggesting that p120 is not involved in modulating Kaiso transcriptional repression of the cyclin D1 promoter.

72





I.P.: p120 15D2 W.B.: p120 15D2



Figure 19: p120 activates the cyclin D1 promoter. (A) The Kaiso binding partner p120 was utilized in luciferase assay experiments to determine if it also regulates cyclin D1 promoter activity. As expected 1.0 μ g of p120 introduced into a luciferse assay activates the cyclin D1 promoter 1.5-fold. (B) p120 protein expression levels increase significantly upon transfection of p120 expression plasmid into HeLa cells. (C) To determine if the observed p120 activation of the cyclin D1 promoter was a consequence of its interaction with Kaiso, p120 expression plasmid was co-transfected with Kaiso in luciferase assays. Surprisingly, despite p120 co-expression with Kaiso, luciferase expression remained at levels concomitant with just Kaiso overexpression, suggesting that p120 is not able to relieve Kaiso-mediated repression of the cyclin D1 promoter.

3.9. Kaiso represses cyclin D1 promoter reporter constructs lacking the KBS.

Our initial observations that Kaiso represses *luciferase* expression via the *cyclin D1* promoter strengthened our hypothesis that *cyclin D1* is a Kaiso target gene. We next sought to determine if this repression occurred via either of the 2 KBS elements located within the 1748CD1 construct, as was suggested by our *in vitro* DNA-binding assays. Site-directed mutagenesis was utilized to create single base-pair mutations in each of the KBS located within the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* promoter fragment. The CD1-1118 KBS was mutated as follows (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TCATGCCA) and the CD1+24 KBS was similarly mutated (CTGCTA \rightarrow ATGCTA). A double KBS 1748CD1 mutant construct was generated from these site-directed mutagenesis products to create the 1MK2MK-CD1 luciferase reporter construct (Figure 20B), which was subsequently used in luciferase assays. As with previously described luciferase assays, 0.2 μ g of KBS mutant reporter plasmid was co-transfected along with 1.0 μ g of Kaiso effector plasmid and the cells were subsequently assayed for luciferase expression.

To our surprise, Kaiso was able to repress luciferase expression from the double KBS mutant 1MK2MK-CD1 *cyclin D1* promoter reporter construct, at the same potency (2-fold) as with the wild type 1748CD1 construct (Figure 21A). This was an unforeseen result, as EMSA experiments had indicated to us that Kaiso did not interact with oligonucleotdies bearing single mutations in either KBS. We therefore anticipated that a minimal *cyclin D1* promoter with single point mutations within each KBS element would not be bound or transcriptionally repressed by Kaiso. Our luciferase assay promoter-reporter data thus raised the possibility that contrary to our *in vitro* DNA-binding

findings, a single nucleotide change within the KBS was not sufficient to inhibit Kaiso's DNA-binding or regulation of the *cyclin D1* promoter *in vivo*. The presence of corepressors and other Kaiso interacting proteins could very well stabilize Kaiso's interaction with the mutated *cyclin D1* KBS.

To address this possibility I created triple base pair mutations in each of the KBS located within the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* partial promoter to completely obliterate any potential Kaiso binding capabilities to each site. The CD1-1118 KBS was mutated as follows (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TC<u>ATTA</u>CA) and the CD1+24 KBS was similarly mutated (CTGCTA \rightarrow <u>A</u>T<u>TT</u>TA). The CD1+24 KBS was given a C \rightarrow T mutation at the 4 th nucleotide within the sequene to avoid the creation of a TATA binding site, which might cause unwanted TATA protein binding to the construct due to the proximity of the CD1+24 KBS to the transcriptional start site. A second double-KBS mutant *cyclin D1* promoter reporter construct was generated from these site-directed mutagenesis products and named KBS(1,2)mt-CD1 (Figure 20B) to differentiate from the first double mutant construct, 1MK2MK-CD1.

The KBS(1,2)mt-CD1 construct was utilized in luciferase assays as previously described, but yet again to our surprise Kaiso was still able to repress luciferase expression from this KBS mutant promoter construct 2-fold (Figure 21B). This result firmly demonstrated that Kaiso was mediating *cyclin D1* repression by an alternate mechanism that did not involve the sequence-specific KBS elements. We therefore questioned whether Kaiso's methylation-specific DNA-binding capabilities may explain its transcriptional repression of the mutated *cyclin D1* promoter.

75



Figure 20: Schematic diagram of the *cyclin D1* promoter KBS mutant constructs generated. (A) The 1748CD1 construct was used as a template to introduce point mutations into each of its two KBS. (B) Single or triple point mutations (described in detail in the materials and methods, Table 3) were created in each of the two 1748CD1 KBS by site-directed mutagenesis. The mutagenesis products were then utilized to create double KBS mutant minimal promoter constructs which were named 1MK2MK-CD1 and KBS(1,2)mt-CD1.





3.10. The cyclin D1 promoter may be regulated by CpG methylation.

Our unexpected finding that Kaiso could still repress luciferase expression from KBS mutant *cyclin D1* promoter reporter constructs led us to investigate whether Kaiso regulation of the *cyclin D1* promoter may be due to its methylation-specific rather than sequence-specific binding. As a first step in investigating Kaiso's potential to bind the *cyclin D1* promoter in a methylation specific manner, the 1748CD1 partial *cyclin D1* promoter was analyzed for putative methylation sites. Anaysis of the 2000 bp 1748CD1 sequence using the methylation prediction software Methprimer (www.urogene.org) indicated that the *cyclin D1* promoter does in fact contain putative CpG islands (Figure 22A). Interestingly, the CD1+24 KBS is located within one of these putative CpG islands. This discovery prompted a preliminary investigation of how these potential CpG methylation sites might affect Kaiso's transcriptional regulation of the *cyclin D1* promoter.

When we first obtained the 1748CD1 construct we were also provided with a second construct, 962CD1, which contains a truncated *cyclin D1* promoter fragment spanning nucleotides -962 to +134 relative to the transcriptional start site. During our initial analysis of Kaiso transcriptional activities in the context of the *cyclin D1* promoter, this construct was not used in our experiments because it did not contain the CD1-1118 KBS, which at that time was of primary interest to us. However, in light of our recent findings, the 962CD1 construct became a useful tool for studying Kaiso's transcriptional repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter in the absence of the CD1-1118 KBS and in the

presence of predicted CpG islands and the CD1+24 KBS. We thus performed luciferase assays using the 962CD1 partial *cyclin D1* promoter reporter construct and Kaiso expression vectors as described earlier for the 1748CD1 minimal promoter.

Interestingly, increasing amounts of Kaiso expression vector caused a dosedependent repression of *luciferase* expression from the 962CD1 construct in an almost identical manner to what was observed with 1748CD1 (Compare Figure 22B and 18A). Since removal of the CD1-1118 KBS alone had little to no effect on Kaiso's transcriptional repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter, this indicated that the CD1-1118 KBS was not the primary Kaiso regulatory element on the *cyclin D1* promoter as we had thought. Together our findings that Kaiso could repress luciferase expression from a promoter construct lacking the CD1-1118 KBS and did not bind the CD1+24 KBS *in vitro* hinted that perhaps Kaiso was functioning as a methylation-dependent rather than consensus sequence-specific repressor of the *cyclin D1* promoter.





Figure 22: The cyclin D1 promoter contains methylatable DNA sequences. (A) The 1748CD1 promter was analyzed to determine if it contained any putative CpG islands. Four potential CpG islands were predicted to be located in this fragment of the cyclin D1 promoter, one of which contains the CD1+24 KBS. (B) The 962CD1 construct, which lacks the CD1-1118 KBS but contains the CD1+24 KBS and 3 of the 4 predicted CpG islands, was co-transfected into HeLa cells along with Kaiso. Interestingly Kaiso repressed luciferase expression from this partial cyclin D1 promoter fragment 2-fold, similar to its effects on the 1748CD1 construct.

3.11. Kaiso binds methylated cyclin D1 promoter fragments in vitro.

The online Methprimer CpG methylation prediction software indicated that the CD1+24 KBS was situated within a predicted CpG island. Fortuitously our CD1+24 KBS EMSA olignonucleotide probe that was generated for previous experiments harboured some of these putative methyl-CpG sites. The CD1+24 probe has a GCGC sequence just upstream of the KBS, in addition to other CpG di-nucleotides. Since Kaiso has been characterized to bind double CpG methylation sequences rather than single sequences, this made the CD1+24 probe a likely candidate for methylation-specific Kaiso DNA-binding. Moreover the CD1-1118 derived olignonucleotide probe, although not predicted to be located within a CpG island, also possesses several CpG dinucleotids.

The CD1-1118 and CD1+24 probes were methylated *in vitro* prior to radiolabeling and incubation with our panel of purified mutant GST-Kaiso fusion proteins. Although our Kaiso protein panel did not bind the wild type CD1+24 KBS probe in the unmethylated condition, they were able to efficiently bind the CD1+24 KBS probe once it had been methylated (Figure 23). This was an exciting finding as it provided the first indication that Kaiso may associate with the *cyclin D1* promoter in a methylation-dependent manner. We next investigated the effects that point mutations of the KBS within this promoter fragment would have on Kaiso's ability to bind the CD1+24 probe *in vitro*. The Kaiso protein panel was able to bind a methylated probe containing a triple nucleotide mutation within the KBS (CTGCTA \rightarrow ATTTA) (Figure 23), although it was unable to bind to the unmethylated mutant probe. This mutation was identical to that introduced into the CD1+24 KBS to create the mutant reporter

KBS(1,2)mt-CD1. It is noteworthy that the affinity of Kaiso binding to the methylated KBS-mutant CD1+24 probe was significantly lower than Kaiso binding to the methylated wild type CD1+24 probe (Figure 23).

The same sets of experiments were performed with the CD1-1118 probe. The Kaiso mutant proteins bound to the wild type unmethylated and methylated CD1-1118 probe (Figure 24), however a triple nucleotide mutation within the KBS identical to the KBS(1,2)mt-CD1 reporter CD1-1118 KBS mutation (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TCATTACA) abrogated Kaiso binding to both the unmethylated and methylated CD1-1118 probe. These results indicated that Kaiso binding to the CD1-1118 probe was KBS-specific, and not attributed to Kaiso binding the various methylated CpG dinucleotides contained near the KBS within the probe. Our findings using methylated CD1+24 and CD1-1118 probes demonstrated that Kaiso has the ability to bind methylated *cyclin D1* promoter probes *in vitro* in specific CpG methylatable regions in the absence of an intact KBS. This possibly explains why Kaiso is still able to repress the KBS-mutated minimal *cyclin D1* promoter in luciferase reporter assays.

82

Figure 23: Kaiso binds the CD1+24 probe in a methylation-dependent manner. CD1+24 oligos were methylated *in vitro*, radiolabelled and incubated with GST-Kaiso fusion proteins. The Kaiso proteins bind efficiently to the methylated wild type CD1+24 probe, with hZF and h Δ AR1 showing the strongest DNA-binding affinity. Methylated KBS mutant probes (CTGCTA \rightarrow <u>ATTT</u>A) were also incubated with Kaiso proteins, which were able to bind the oligos, albeit at a lesser affinity than their binding to methylated wild type probe. Interestingly, Kaiso was not able to bind to the unmethylated wild type or KBS mutant CD1+24 probe.



Figure 24: Kaiso does not bind the CD1-1118 probe in a methylation-dependent manner. GST-Kaiso fusion proteins were incubated with methylated wild type and KBS mutant (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TCATTACA) CD1-1118 probes. The Kaiso proteins showed efficient binding to the unmethylated as well as the methylated wild type probe. However, upon mutation of the KBS, Kaiso binding to the probe was abrogated in both the unmethylated and methylated probes. Non-specific bands are indicated by the arrowhead.



3.12. Kaiso and p120 modulate β -catenin transcriptional activation of the cyclin D1 promoter.

Since our initial identification of Kaiso binding sites in the *cyclin D1* promoter resulted from a visual search of β -catenin target gene promoters, we next investigated the possibility that Kaiso and p120 may have an effect on β -catenin mediated activation of this promoter. Using luciferase assays and consistent with published studies (88, 119) we observed that β -catenin activates luciferase expression from the *cyclin D1* promoter 5fold. More importantly however, we found that Kaiso completely inhibits β -cateninmediated *cyclin D1* activation (Figure 25A). Moreover, p120 enhances β -catenin activation of the promoter 2-fold, presumably independent of its interaction with Kaiso (Figure 25B). These results are quite exciting as they support our hypothesis that Kaiso and p120 modulate canonical Wnt signaling and corroborate data published by our collaborator, Dr. Pierre McCrea (MD Anderson Cancer Centre, Houston, TX), who demonstrated that Kaiso antagonizes canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the *Xenopus laevis* model system (88, 119).



Figure 25: Kaiso and p120 modulate β -catenin mediated activation of the cyclin D1 promoter. The similarity between the p120/Kaiso interaction and the β -catenin/TCF interaction led us to question whether Kaiso and p120 may synergize or antagonize β -catenin/TCF regulation of cyclin D1. To investigate this possibility the wild type 1748CD1 partial cyclin D1 promoter reporter construct was co-transfected with Kaiso, p120, and an N-terminally truncated and constitutively active β -catenin expression construct, $\Delta N89$. (A) β -catenin activated the cyclin D1 promoter 5-6-fold, however Kaiso inhibited this activation and reduced luciferase expression back to basal levels. (B) Conversely, p120 enhanced β -catenin activation to twice its normal level. (C) The $\Delta N89$ β -catenin protein is efficiently expressed using standard transient transfection methods, which is indicated by the arrowhead.

3.13. Kaiso misexpression regulates cyclin D1 transcript levels.

As a first step in determining if Kaiso misexpression could sufficiently modulate *cyclin D1* mRNA expression, we employed transient transfection methods to misexpress Kaiso in HeLa and MCF-7 cells. Our initial Kaiso overexpression experiments in HeLa cells followed by RT-PCR amplification of Kaiso, cyclin D1, and GAPDH mRNA did not yield any significant results (Figure 26A,B). Although Kaiso overexpression could be detected at the mRNA and protein level (Figure 26A,B), we could not detect any change in cyclin D1 transcript levels (Figure 26A). Changes in experimental conditions (e.g. manipulation of starting RNA concentration and number of PCR cycles) did not yield any differences in the results obtained. Based on our *cyclin D1* minimal promoter assay experiments, we had predicted that Kaiso overexpression would repress *cyclin D1*. However it is possible that in an *in vivo* context with numerous regulatory factors at play, this Kaiso-mediated repression of *cyclin D1* would be difficult to detect. To circumvent this problem, we turned to analysing the effects of Kaiso depletion on *cyclin D1* transcript levels.

HeLa cells were transfected with Kaiso-specific siRNA and subsequent RT-PCR of harvested RNA demonstrated a significant, but not complete knock down of Kaiso mRNA (Figure 26C). More importantly however, we efficiently detected an approximate 3-fold upregulation of *cyclin D1* mRNA in the Kaiso-depleted samples (Figure 26C,D). This experiment was reproduced with similar results in MCF-7 cells (Figure 26E,F). This exciting finding is consistent with our *cyclin D1* minimal promoter assay data in which Kaiso overexpression causes a repression of luciferase expression under control of

89

the cyclin D1 promoter. Furthermore this finding provides the first direct *in vivo* evidence that Kaiso regulates cyclin D1 gene expression, and suggests that Kaiso is a tumour suppressor in the context of its regulation of cyclin D1.

Figure 26: Effects of Kaiso misexpression on *cyclin D1* **transcript expression levels.** Semi-quantitative real time PCR experiments were performed on HeLa cells transiently transfected with Kaiso siRNA or overexpression constructs. We examined *Kaiso, cyclin D1*, and *GAPDH* transcript levels after Kaiso depletion or overexpression by subjecting equal amounts of PCR products to agarose gel electrophoresis. (A) No significant change in *cyclin D1* transcript levels was observed upon Kaiso overexpression in HeLa cells. Kaiso overexpression was verified at the mRNA (A) and protein levels (B). Conversely, Kaiso depletion by RNAi in HeLa and MCF-7 cells resulted in a 3-fold increase of cyclin D1 mRNA(C, E). Immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments verified Kaiso depletion at the protein level in both cell lines (D, F).

A. <u>Transfection:</u> M^{0CK} K^{ais0} <u>RT-PCR:</u> Kaiso Cyclin D1 GAPDH <u>IP/WB</u>: Kaiso



HeLa







F.

MCF-7

Discussion

4.1. Kaiso, p120 and E-cadherin expression in breast cell lines.

Kaiso is a member of the POZ-ZF family of transcription factors with roles in development and tumourigenesis (2, 8, 20). Hence it was not surprising when preliminary experiments in our lab suggested that Kaiso may be involved in breast tumourigenesis. A cancer profiling array indicated that Kaiso was misexpressed in 42%of the breast tumours represented on the array; Kaiso was underexpressed in 30% of the samples and overexpressed in 12% of the samples (Daniel lab, unpublished data). This suggested that Kaiso may have dual functions as a tumour suppressor and an oncoprotein depending on the context. Indeed the E2F1 transcription factor, a downstream effector of cyclin D1 activity in the G1 phase of the cell cycle, has been shown to exhibit both tumour suppressor and oncoprotein properties. In rodent fibroblasts, E2F1 overexpression leads to S phase cell cycle entry and DNA synthesis based on its capacity to activate genes involved in cell proliferation (45, 129). However E2F1 can conversely induce apoptosis in cooperation with p53 in rodent fibroblasts, based on its regulation of apoptosis-associated genes (60, 96, 137), and can also induce apoptosis in several human tumour cell lines independent of p53 (29, 40, 77, 92). In light of these findings and our identification of Kaiso binding sites in the cyclin D1 promoter, an oncogene that is frequently overexpressed in breast tumours (3, 15, 116), we hypothesized that Kaiso may play a role in breast tumour progression via its mis-regulation of cyclin D1 expression.
As a first step in exploring this hypothesis we examined Kaiso, p120 and Ecadherin expression, subcellular localization and co-precipitation in a panel of breast tumour (MCF-7, T47-D, MDA-468, MDA-231) and non-tumour (MCF-12A, MCF10A) cell lines. In all seven cell lines, Kaiso was observed as a 100 kDa phosphoprotein doublet with the highest expression in MCF-7 and SK-BR-3 tumour cells, and the lowest expression in MCF-12A non-tumour cells (Figure 8). These expression profiles suggest that Kaiso is expressed at higher levels in breast tumour than non-tumour cells and would implicate Kaiso as an oncoprotein. However, the fact that a cancer profiling array displayed increased Kaiso protein levels in 12% of breast tumour samples and decreased levels in 30% of the samples indicates that depending on the cell type or tissue origin Kaiso may display oncogenic or tumour suppressor characteristics. Breast tumours of different tissue origins have very specific characteristics with respect to etiology, pathology, treatment, and prognosis (111), and as such it is possible that Kaiso has very specific roles in these different types of breast tumours at the cellular level. Future experiments such as a breast tissue microarray screen, colony formation assays, and analysis of tumours derived from injection of Kaiso-overexpressing or -depleted cells in nude mice will help to definitively determine whether Kaiso acts as a tumour suppressor or oncoprotein in breast tumourigenesis.

In contrast to Kaiso, the p120 expression profile was unique to each cell line. In the tumour cell lines (MCF-7, T47-D, MDA-468, MDA-231, and SK-BR-3), pl20 was mainly observed as two isoforms, 1 and 3. Although isoform 3 was more abundant than isoform 1 in all cell lines, the ratio of isoform 3: isoform 1 varied with each cell line

94

(Figure 8). In the MCF-12A and MCF-10A non-tumour cells, only p120 isoform 3 was observed (Figure 8). p120 isoform 3 is preferentially expressed in epithelial cells and the presence of isoform 1 in tumour cell lines suggests that isoform-1 may be a contributing factor to the tumourigenic properties of these cells. The presence of p120 isoform 1 in the breast non-tumour cell lines may hint at a difference in the ability for p120 to interact with Kaiso in tumour cells compared to non-tumour cells. Although Kaiso preferentially interacts with the smaller p120 isoform 3 (Daniel lab, unpublished data), it is also able to interact with isoform 1 (Daniel lab, unpublished data). The combined presence of p120 isoform 1 and 3 in the tumour cells, which may contribute to the tumourigenic process.

The E-cadherin expression profile has been well documented in many cell lines and our findings are consistent with earlier studies showing that E-cadherin is expressed in all the breast cell lines we tested, except for MDA-231 and SK-BR-3 (Figure 8) (37, 110). Lack of E-cadherin expression is attributed to promoter hypermethylation in MDA-231 cells (110) and homozygous gene deletion in SK-BR-3 cells (37). Interestingly, E-cadherin is expressed doublet in as а MCF-7 and T47-D tumour cells. The slowly migrating band may be comprised of incompletely processed E-cadherin molecules and/or E-caderin molecules that have been aberrantly modified post-translationally (143).

Together these experiments indicate that Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin have unique expression profiles in each of the seven breast epithelial cell lines tested but no obvious

95

pattern or correlation was detected. The non-tumour MCF-12A and MCF-10A share almost identical Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin expression profiles; the MCF-7 and T47-D tumour cells share similar profiles; and the MDA-468, MDA-231, and SK-BR-3 tumour cells have different profiles. MCF-12A and MCF-10A cells are most often used as normal controls in studies using breast tumour cell lines and are not thoroughly characterized for tumour suppressor or oncogene expression. MCF-7 and T47-D tumour cells express both the c-ErbB-4 receptor and estrogen receptor, while MDA-231 and SK-BR-3 tumour cells do not (122). When activated by epidermal growth factor-like ligands, the ErbB family of receptor tyrosine kinases transduce signals that lead to the activation of various genes involved in cell growth and transformation (6). The estrogen receptor is a transcription factor that activates genes involved in cell proliferation in response to the presence of estrogen in breast cells, reviewed in (41). It is clear that the MCF-7 and T47-D cell lines share similar characteristics that affect breast tumour progression. Therefore the fact that they share similar Kaiso, p120, and E-cadherin expression profiles may also hint that these proteins may function in a similar manner in these cells to contribute to breast tumourigenesis. Future experiments in MCF-7 and T47-D versus MDA-231 and SK-BR-3 cells such as growth curve analyses and colony formation assays using Kaisooverexpressing or –depleted cells, may help elucidate the signaling pathway(s) involved in Kaiso effects on cell growth and transformation. These cell lines have the potential to become elegant system in which to examine if tumour-associated genes such as the ErbB and estrogen receptors contribute to Kaiso's involvement in breast tumourigenesis.

4.2. Kaiso and p120 interaction in breast cell lines.

Our investigation of the Kaiso-p120 interaction in a panel of breast cell lines revealed that Kaiso and p120 co-localize in nuclear and peri-nuclear compartments, and co-precipitate in most breast tumour cell lines (SK-BR-3, MCF-7, T47-D, MDA-468, and MDA-231) but not in the MCF-12A non-tumour cell line. Immunoflourescence studies indicated that Kaiso and p120 have different subcellular and colocalization patterns in the non-tumour MCF-12A and MCF-10A, and tumour-derived SK-BR-3 cell lines. Kaiso was predominantly expressed as a nuclear protein in all three cell lines (Figure 9), but also displayed some cytoplasmic staining in the SK-BR-3 cell line (Figure 9B). p120, on the other hand, displayed cell-type specific subcellular localization patterns; p120 localized to cell-cell junctions in MCF-12A cells (Figure 9A), to cell-cell junctions and the cytoplasm in MCF-10A cells (Figure 9B), and throughout the cytoplasm and somewhat to the nucleus in SK-BR-3 cells (Figure 9C). Kaiso and p120 co-localized to the same subcellular compartments in SK-BR-3 and MCF-10A cells, providing our first clue that they may interact in these cells (Figure 10).

The p120/Kaiso interaction has thus far been only observed in epithelial cells that express p120 isoform 3 ((20, 50) and Daniel lab, unpublished data), as experiments using fibroblast cells that primarily express p120 isoform 1 have not demonstrated a p120/Kaiso interaction. It was therefore an interesting finding that the p120/Kaiso interaction could not be detected in the MCF-12A non-tumour cell line of epithelial origin. Our observation that Kaiso and p120 localize to different subcellular compartments in MCF-12A cells (nucleus and cell membrane, respectively) may explain

97

why an interaction was not detected in an epithelial cell line between the two proteins in our experiments. Restriction of p120 to the cell membrane may indicate a cell-adhesion specific role for this protein and specific factors may inhibit its nuclear localization or accumulation to interact with Kaiso.

4.3. Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo.

In human breast tumours, one of the most frequently upregulated oncogenes is *cyclin D1* which encodes a cell cycle regulator and is a target gene of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway that is often perturbed in breast tumours (14). Since preliminary evidence had indicated Kaiso was misexpressed in breast tumours and we recently foound that Kaiso converged on a subset of Wnt target genes, we decided to determine whether Kaiso could be contribute to tumorigenesis through misregulation of cyclin D1. ChIP experiments were carried out using breast epithelial non-tumour (MCF-12A) and tumour, (MCF-7, MDA-468, and MDA-231) cell lines. We detected 200 bp cyclin D1 promoter fragments in Kaiso immunocomplexes from all four cell lines but interestingly this was dependent on the presence or absence of serum (Figure 11). Specifically, MDA-468 and MCF-12A cells required serum-starvation before cyclin D1 promoter fragments could be detected in Kaiso immunocomplexes. Meanwhile Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter was easily detected in MCF-7 and MDA-231 cells propagated in serum-supplemented media. This strongly suggests that growth factor signaling pathways and hence Kaiso and/or pl20 phosphorylation status is a crucial factor in directing Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter. Alternatively, cell-type or tumour-specific factors may contribute to the Kaiso/cyclin D1 promoter association since the different breast cell lines are of different tumour origins.

Previous studies from our laboratory determined that Kaiso is a serine/threonine phosphoprotein (Daniel lab, unpublished data), however the specific kinases that direct its phosphorylation are currently unknown. It is therefore possible that Kaiso function and association with the cyclin D1 promoter may be affected by its phosphorylation status upon growth factor signaling from serum-supplemented cell culture media. Bcl-6, a POZ-ZF transcription factor associated with B-cell lymphomas (2, 8), is phosphorylated at serine and proline clusters by mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling upon receptor activation (70, 78). This phosphorylation leads to decreased Bcl-6 transcriptional activity, and decreased protein stability due to rapid Bcl-6 degradation by the ubiquitin-dependent proteosomal pathway (78). Additionally, the Drosophila POZ-ZF transcription factor Tramtrack, which was among the first identified BTB/POZ proteins, is also targeted for degradation via MAPK phosphorylation (61, 125). Hence it is possible that Kaiso, like its family members, is also phosphorylated by MAPK signaling, or signaling through other kinases linked to receptor tyrosine kinases. These signaling events may target Kaiso for degradation or regulate Kaiso subcellular localization, DNA-binding and/or function in another manner, thus limiting its association with the cyclin D1 promoter. The opposing Kaiso/cyclin D1 promoter interactions observed in MCF-7 and MDA-231 cells compared to MCF-12A and MDA-468 cells may be due to the effects of Kaiso phosphorylation events that are controlled by divergent cell type specific components.

Our ChIP experiments also indicated that p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in MCF-7 cells (Figure 12). We presume that this association is via p120's direct interaction with Kaiso, which in turn actually binds the DNA. Although our lab has shown that p120 inhibits Kaiso DNA-binding in vitro, the crosslinking step of the ChIP protocol may be sufficient to preserve any transient p120/Kaiso complexes located in proximity to the cyclin D1 promoter. This would allow for precipitation of cyclin D1 promoter fragments from p120-specific immunocomplexes. However, further experiments must be performed to determine if p120 association with the cyclin D1 promoter occurs through (1) the p120/Kaiso interaction, (2) an unknown intrinsic ability for p120 to bind DNA, or (3) an interaction with another transcription factor or nuclear protein. One experiment to resolve these options is to use siRNA methodologies to deplete Kaiso from the cells, and then test p120-specific immunocomplexes for the presence or absence of cyclin D1 promoter fragments. If p120 associates with the cyclin D1 promoter indirectly through its interaction with Kaiso, then Kaiso depletion would result in reduced p120/cyclin D1 promoter association. Conversely if p120 associates with the promoter directly or via some other currently unknown nucler protein, then its association with cyclin D1 would not be affected by Kaiso siRNA treatment.

4.4. Kaiso association with the cyclin D1 promoter in vitro.

Having established that Kasio does indeed associate with the *cyclin D1* promoter *in vivo*, we next investigated whether Kaiso binds the *cyclin D1* promoter via its sequence-specific sites (CD1-1118 KBS and CD1+24 KBS). Using EMSA analyses we

determined that Kaiso specifically binds the CD1-1118 KBS (Figure 15), but not the CD1+24 KBS (Figure 16). These results confirmed our prediction that the CD1-1118 KBS is the more relevant binding site for Kaiso within the *cyclin D1* promoter due to its fully conserved KBS (TCCTGCCA), in contrast to the CD1+24 KBS which contains only the core KBS (CTGCTA). However, it was surprising that Kaiso did not bind the CD1+24 KBS, since Kaiso should still exhibit some DNA-binding with the core KBS. Interestingly EMSA experiments performed using murine Kaiso-GST fusion proteins (Appendix B) revealed that unlike human Kaiso-GST fusion proteins, murine Kaiso binds both the CD1-1118 KBS and CD1+24 KBS elements. This suggests that murine Kaiso has a higher affinity for the core KBS than human Kaiso. Additionally, the presence of stabilizing or destabilizing nucleotides surrounding the KBS in the CD1-1118 and CD1+24 EMSA probes may influence the specificity of murine versus human Kaiso binding to the KBS.

An alignment of the human and murine Kaiso zinc finger domains shows that they differ slightly in the amino acid content of \underline{z} inc fingers (ZF) 2 and 3 (Figure 27). Human Kaiso contains uncharged and hydrophobic residues in proximity to the ZF2 and ZF3 cysteine residues respectively, while murine Kaiso contains polar resides in the same region. Since ZF2 and ZF3 are necessary for Kaiso DNA-binding, the amino acid differences that occur in proximity to the cysteine residues that define the C_2H_2 characteristic of each zinc finger most likely bestow slightly different DNA-binding affinities or specificities to murine and human Kaiso. While it



Figure 27: Comparison of human and murine Kaiso zinc finger domains. An alignment of the human and mouse zinc finger domains reveals that zinc fingers (ZF) 2 and 3 differ to a small extent in their amino acid content. The human ZFs contain uncharged and hydrophobic residues in proximity to ZF 2 and 3 respectively, while the murine ZFs contain polar resides in the same region. ZF2 and ZF3 are necessary for Kaiso DNA binding therefore these slight differences in amino acid content may confer moderately different DNA-binding affinities to human and murine Kaiso.

has been established that DNA sequence recognition is achieved from the interaction between the DNA bases and the side chains of the amino acids comprising the zinc finger (134), it is believed that these interactions are stabilized by the "linkers" or amino acid residues between the zinc fingers (66). Therefore although the amino acid differences between human and murine Kaiso are quite minor, they may be sufficient to confer slightly different DNA-binding properties to the two proteins, and thus explain why human Kaiso, in contrast to murine Kaiso, does not have a high affinity for the core KBS.

However, another explanation for the differences in KBS binding affinity exhibited by human and murine Kaiso is that the protein purification protocol utilized for GST-fusion protein expression and purification may not be optimal for the induction and purification of human GST-Kaiso fusion proteins. This may ultimately affect the ability of the human GST-Kaiso fusion proteins purified in this manner to bind DNA in EMSA experiments. Many degradation products were observed in human GST-Kaiso fusion protein preparations (Figure 14), whereas murine Kaiso GST-fusion proteins were nondegraded (Figure B-3,A). It is therefore possible that in EMSA experiments, these human GST-Kaiso degradation products may have interfered with DNA-protein interactions to confound the results obtained.

4.5. Kaiso and p120 regulation of the cyclin D1 promoter.

Once we had established that Kaiso associates with the *cyclin D1* promoter, luciferase assays were carried out to determine the effects that Kaiso and its binding partner p120 would have on luciferase expression under control of the 1748CD1 partial

cyclin D1 promoter. Kaiso repressed the promoter in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 18), while p120 activated the promoter (Figure 19). These initial results were consistent with previous findings from our lab indicating that Kaiso is a transcriptional repressor and p120 de-represses (activates) Kaiso target genes (119). However, further investigation of p120 and Kaiso-mediated repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter demonstrated that p120 was unable to derepress Kaiso transcriptional activity (Figure 19C). These results suggested that p120 activation of the *cyclin D1* promoter is independent of its interaction with Kaiso and may be a result of other signaling pathway(s) that involve p120. For example, p120 increases the activity of the Rho GTPase Rac1, which can induce DNA synthesis and cell cycle progression (82, 97) via activation of NF_Kb and ATF-2, transcription factors which in turn bind the *cyclin D1* promoter to activate gene expression (31, 46). This implicates p120 as an indirect regulator of *cyclin D1* through its activation of Rac1.

Next, to determine if Kaiso regulation of the *cyclin D1* promoter occurred via its interaction with the KBS elements in the promoter, we utilized KBS-mutated *cyclin D1* promoter-reporter constructs in luciferase assays. The mutated promoters contained point mutations within each of the KBS elements located in the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* partial promoter and were generated to ensure that the KBS elements were completely abolished. Surprisingly Kaiso was still able to repress luciferase expression from KBS-mutant *cyclin D1* promoter reporters at the same potency as the wild type promoter reporter (Figure 21). This suggested that the Kaiso-mediated repression of the wild type *cyclin D1* promoter reporter 1748CD1 was not due to Kaiso association with the KBS

elements of the *cyclin D1* promoter. These new findings led us to investigate the possibility that Kaiso may regulate the *cyclin D1* promoter through its methylation-specific DNA-binding abilities. Kaiso is dual-specificity DNA-binding protein that binds a sequence specific consensus as well as methyl-CpG dinucleotides (23), and as such, these findings pointed to the possibility that Kaiso methylation-directed DNA binding may play a role in its regulation of *cyclin D1*.

4.6. Kaiso association with methylated sequences within the cyclin D1 promoter.

Methylation prediction software indicated that the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* partial promoter used in our studies contains four putative CpG islands, one of which contains the CD1+24 KBS (Figure 22A). Luciferase assays with the 962CD1 *cyclin D1* partial promoter reporter that lacks the CD1-1118 KBS but contains three of the four putative CpG islands as well as the CD1+24 KBS, demonstrated that Kaiso represses this reporter in a dose-dependent manner as potently as the 1748CD1 promoter reporter (Figure 22B, Compare with Figure 18A). This indicated that the CD1-1118 KBS is not essential for Kaiso-mediated repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter and further suggested that Kaiso-mediated *cyclin D1* repression was perhaps primarily via methyl-CpG sites.

EMSA experiments carried out using the CD1+24 probe provided further support for this notion as Kaiso was able to bind methylated wild type and KBS-mutant CD1+24 probes (Figure 23), whereas is was not able to bind unmethylated CD1+24 probes (Figure 16). Furthermore, *in vitro* methylation of the CD1-1118 probe did not enhance Kaiso binding (Figure 24). Kaiso binds CGCG methylated sequences, one of which is

105

contained within the CD1+24 probe sequence (GCGC) along with several single CpGdinucleotide pairs. The presence of the GCGC sequence within the CD1+24 probe may possibly explain why Kaiso was able to bind to this probe. Moreover, the CD1-1118 probe contains several single CpG-dinucleotide pairs and also a GCCG sequence, however, Kaiso was not able to bind to this probe in a methylation-specific manner, verifying the specificity of the Kaiso methylated DNA binding sequence (CGCG). These findings provide a plausible explanation for our observations that Kaiso is still able to repress KBS mutated *cyclin D1* promoter reporter constructs since Kaiso may associate with methylated CpG-islands in the *cyclin D1* promoter. The results obtained with the methylated CD1-1118 and CD1+24 EMSA probes warrant a more thorough analysis of Kaiso binding to probes derived from other portions of predicted CpG-islands within the *cyclin D1* promoter.

Another exciting possibility raised by these findings is that Kaiso regulation of the *cyclin D1* promoter in the CD1+24 region may be dually directed by Kaiso's sequence-specific and methylation-dependent DNA-binding abilities. EMSA experiments showed that although Kaiso can bind to methylated wild type and methylated KBS-mutant CD1+24 probes, stronger binding occurs with the methylated wild type probe (Figure 23). Within the cell nucleus Kaiso may be recruited to the CD1+24 region by both the KBS and methylated CpG di-nucleotides to direct dual-specificity *cyclin D1* transcriptional repression. Kaiso's sequence-specific regulation of the *cyclin D1* promoter has been previously reported in the *Xenopus* system by our collaborator Dr. Pierre McCrea (MD Anderson Cancer Centre, Houston, TX) (88). Moreover, Kaiso

106

regulation of *cyclin D1* is currently under investigation in another *Xenopus* lab that studies methylation-dependent Kaiso transcriptional regulation (Personal communication, Richard Meehan). Collectively these findings strongly support the idea that Kaiso utilizes a bi-modal mechanism of transcriptional regulation of *cyclin D1* that is conserved across species.

Several lines of evidence hint that promoter methylation may play a key role in regulating *cyclin D1* gene expression. The rat *cyclin D1* promoter contains two CpG islands and their methylation status is crucial for maintaining steady state *cyclin D1* expression levels in rat leukemic cell lines (56). In human B-cell lymphoma cell lines, the *cyclin D1* promoter was observed to be hypomethylated in cyclin D1 expressing cell lines and methylated in non-expressing cell lines (62). Lastly the methyl-CpG binding proteins MeCp1 and MeCp2 have been observed in association with the *cyclin D1* promoter in MDA-231 breast tumour cells (99). Methyl-CpG associated Kaiso is observed in a multiprotein complex involving MeCp2 (94, 142) and together these two proteins may bind the *cyclin D1* promoter to direct *cyclin D1* transcriptional repression. Since *cyclin D1* is the master switch for the cell cycle, Kaiso's putative involvement in maintaining steady state *cyclin D1* expression levels through a methylation-dependent repression mechanism suggests that Kaiso is essential for the tight regulation of cell cycle dynamics.

4.7. Kaiso misexpresion effects on cyclin D1 mRNA.

To verify our luciferase assay results indicating that Kaiso represses the *cyclin D1* promoter, RT-PCR experiments were performed to investigate Kaiso misexpression effects on *cyclin D1* transcript levels. Our initial Kaiso-overexpressing experiments did not appear to have any effects on *cyclin D1* transcript levels (Figure 26A), suggesting that perhaps the promoter is already maximally repressed or occupied. The *cyclin D1* gene product is highly regulated throughout the cell cycle; therefore due to this careful control, further reduction of its low steady-state expression levels may be detrimental to the cells. *Cyclin D1* promoter methylation has been shown to maintain steady state gene expression levels (56), and our current findings suggest that Kaiso may regulate *cyclin D1* in a methylation-dependent manner. Therefore it is possible that Kaiso is involved in maintaining steady-state *cyclin D1* expression, and as such its overexpression may not enhance its activity.

To address this possibility we next investigated the consequences of Kaiso depletion on *cyclin D1* transcript levels. Indeed Kaiso depletion resulted in an approximate 3-fold increase in *cyclin D1* mRNA, and was readily observed in HeLa and MCF-7 cells (Figure 26C,E). These results corroborated the luciferase assay experiments and provided our first *in vivo* evidence that Kaiso functions to negatively regulate *cyclin D1* expression. Immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments must be carried out to determine if this Kaiso depletion effect on *cyclin D1* transcript expression translates into a 3-fold increase at the protein level as well.

4.8. Kaiso and p120 modulation of β -catenin-mediated activation of the cyclin D1 promoter.

Cyclin D1 is a well-documented gene target of the Wnt/ β -catenin/TCF signaling pathway; therefore while investigating Kaiso and p120 transcriptional regulation of the cyclin D1 promoter, we also examined their effects on β -catenin-mediated activation of cyclin D1. As predicted, Kaiso inhibited and p120 enhanced β -catenin-mediated activation of the cyclin D1 promoter (Figure 25). However, due to our previous observations that p120 is unable to relieve Kaiso-mediated repression of the cyclin D1 promoter, it is plausible that the p120-induced enhancement of β -catenin-mediated activation of the cyclin D1 promoter occurs independently of Kaiso. It remains to be determined whether p120 directly binds the cyclin D1 promoter or whether the p120 effect is via some other nuclear p120-binding protein or through Rac1-mediated cyclin D1 activation, as previously discussed.

The Kaiso-mediated inhibition of β -catenin transcriptional activity in the context of the *cyclin D1* promoter is consistent with published reports that Kaiso converges on a subset of Wnt/ β -catenin target genes such as *matrilysin* and *siamois* (88, 119). This Kaiso effect most likely involves recruitment of co-repressors that inhibit the effects of β catenin activation, or Kaiso-initiated DNA conformational changes that dissociate β catenin from the promoter. Disruption of the Wnt/ β -catenin/TCF signaling pathway contributes to the progression of many human tumours (14, 63, 81), and as such our recent findings that Kaiso inhibits the activation of Wnt target genes hints at a general role for Kaiso in counteracting Wnt-induced tumour progression. Future experiments investigating the upstream signaling events that lead to Kaiso repression of Wnt target genes and inhibition of β -catenin-mediated activation of these genes will significantly advance our understanding of how Wnt signaling and the as yet undefined Kaiso signaling pathway(s) collectively contribute to tumourigenesis and cancer progression.

4.9. Putative mechanisms of Kaiso-mediated cyclin D1 repression.

Together our data demonstrate that Kaiso represses *cyclin D1* expression, however, we have yet to clearly define the mechanism(s) directing this repression. Our experiments to date strongly suggest that Kaiso repression of the *cyclin D1* gene occurs through its dual-specificity association with closely situated sequence-specific DNA elements and methyl-CpG di-nucleotides within the promoter (Figure 28). Although Kaiso has been characterized as a bi-modal transcription factor, it has been studied almost exclusively as either a sequence-specific or methylation-dependent DNA binding protein. However, our findings provide the first experimental evidence of a gene, *cyclin D1*, which is possibly regulated by Kaiso's simultaneous binding to the consensus KBS as well as methyl-CpG di-nucleotides (Figure 28). These findings warrant a more in-depth investigation into the possibility that Kaiso regulates genes through its ability to bind sequence-specific and methylated DNA within the same promoter.

However the possibility also exists that Kaiso's cytoplasmic roles may indirectly contribute to *cyclin D1* transcriptional regulation through upstream signaling events. Luciferase assays carried out using the Kaiso-NLS mutant that harbours minimal point mutations within the NLS, demonstrated that NLS-mutant Kaiso was able to repress the

cyclin D1 promoter at the same strength as wild type Kaiso (Appendix A, Figure A-2,B). This suggested that the *cyclin D1* repression effects observed in luciferase assay and RT-PCR experiments were due to cytoplasmic Kaiso activity, resulting in *cyclin D1* expression through signaling events (Figure 29). Recent findings demonstrating that Kaiso is a predominantly cytoplasmic protein in tumour tissue samples (118), our detection of some cytoplasmic Kaiso in breast tumour cells (Figure 9C, (84)), coupled with our minimal promoter reporter studies demonstrating that NLS-mutant Kaiso is still able to repress the *cyclin D1* promoter support the possibility that Kaiso may indirectly regulate *cyclin D1* expression via a currently unknown role for Kaiso in the cytoplasm (Figure 29). Our findings have laid the groundwork for future studies to effectively elucidate the mechanism by which Kaiso regulates *cyclin D1* and determine the physiological relevance of this repression.



Figure 28: Bimodal DNA-binding-directed cyclin D1 repression by Kaiso. Our experiments indicate that Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in vivo and associates with promoter-derived KBS elements and methylated CpG dinucleotides in vitro. This suggests that Kaiso repression of cyclin D1 is directed by both its sequence-specific and methylated DNA-binding abilities. Kaiso phosphorylation status may play a role in its ability to bind these DNA elements, and its association with p120 may not affect its regulation of cyclin D1. Dashed lines depict putative signaling events.



Figure 29: Potential cytoplasmic roles for Kaiso in directing cyclin D1 repression. Luciferase assays performed with an NLS-mutant Kaiso expression construct demonstrate that cytoplasmic-restricted Kaiso still represses the cyclin D1 promoter. This raises the possibility that cytosolic pools of Kaiso may be involved in upstream signaling events that result in cyclin D1 repression through unknown transcription factors. p120 regulates the Rho GTPases, which activate cyclin D1 through signaling events to transcription factors. Dashed lines depict putative signaling events.

4.10. A potential role for Kaiso in breast tumourigenesis.

Our results demonstrating that Kaiso associates with the cyclin D1 promoter in a panel of breast cell lines and represses cyclin D1 mRNA expression in MCF-7 breast tumour cells strengthens our hypothesis that Kaiso plays a role in breast tumourigenesis. This hypothesis first evolved after a Cancer Profiling Array revealed that Kaiso was misexpressed in approximately 40% of human breast tumours. The cyclin D1 oncogene is overexpressed most often in breast tumours (3, 15, 116), and Kaiso's regulation of its expression provides another link between Kaiso and breast tumorigenesis. Our data suggest that Kaiso functions as a tumour suppressor in the context of its regulation of cyclin D1 to inhibit breast tumour proliferation. As observed in these studies, aberrant Kaiso expression, specifically depletion, leads to increased cyclin D1 transcript levels, which in turn may lead to increased cell proliferation. Alternatively, aberrant Kaiso phosphorylation may lead to cyclin D1 activation if phosphorylation events render Kaiso unable to bind and repress the promoter. Furthermore the possibility exists that in tumour cells, abnormal cyclin D1 promoter methylation may affect Kaiso's ability to bind and repress the promoter, thus perturbing Kaiso's tumour suppressor role and further promoting tumour progression.

Moreover, luciferase assays indicating that Kaiso inhibits β -catenin-mediated activation of the *cyclin D1* promoter further implicates Kaiso function in breast tumourigenesis. The Wnt signaling pathway is often perturbed in breast tumours (14), and Kaiso's repression of the Wnt target gene *cyclin D1* and its inhibition of β -catenin mediated activation of *cyclin D1* suggests that Kaiso may be involved in counteracting

114

breast tumour progression. This places Kaiso at a crucial point as a negative regulator of Wnt signaling and may involve Kaiso regulation of other Wnt target genes during breast tumourigenesis. Moreover our findings place Kaiso as a key factor in regulating cell cycle dynamics by maintaining steady *cyclin D1* expression levels. This process may be disrupted during tumour progression by aberrant Kaiso phosphorylation events or abnormal *cyclin D1* promoter methylation to enhance breast cell proliferation, and further promote tumour progression.

4.11. Conclusion and Significance.

In this study, we have characterized *cyclin D1* as a Kaiso target gene and effectively demonstrated that Kaiso represses *cyclinl D1*, and important cell cycle regulator. Furthermore we uncovered two putative mechanisms that may direct Kaiso-mediated *cyclin D1* repression; we discovered the exciting possibility that Kaiso represses *cyclin D1* by its dual-specificity DNA-binding ability (sequence-specific and methyl-CpG binding), as well as the possibility that this repression occurs via upstream cytoplasmic Kaiso functions. Lastly our data indicate that Kaiso and p120 modulate β -catenin-mediated activation of *cyclin D1*, and provide yet another example of Kaiso and p120 involvement modulating the outcomes of canonical Wnt signaling. Together these data strengthen our hypothesis that Kaiso-mediated transcriptional regulation of *cyclin D1* plays a role in cell proliferation and breast tumourigenesis.

These experiments are the first to investigate *cyclin D1* as a Kaiso target gene in mammalian cells, and add *cyclin D1* to the growing list of Kaiso target genes involved in cell growth and proliferation. Kaiso repression of *cyclin D1* places it at a key position as a regulator of cell cycle dynamics, and further investigation of this regulation and the resulting functional consequences will enhance our understanding of the molecular factors involved in tumour progression. Our continued investigations of the dual-specificity POZ-ZF transcription factor Kaiso and its associated co-factors will aid in clarifying the roles that Kaiso plays in normal cell growth, development and tumourigenesis.

Appendix A: Control Experiments

The data presented here represent control experiments that were carried out to clarify luciferase assay results indicating that Kaiso is a transcriptional repressor of *cyclin D1*.

Appendix A: Control Experiments

Materials and Methods

A.1. Luciferase Assays.

Luciferase assays were carried out as previously described. 0.2 μ g of reporter construct and up to 1.0 μ g of effector DNA were co-transfected into HeLa cells using the Exgen-500 transfection reagent (MBI Fermentas). The effectors used in these experiments were as follows: pcDNA3-hKaiso, pcDNA3-h Δ POZ, pcDNA3-hKaiso-NLSmut, pcDNA3-Bcl6, siRNA Kaiso 3-1, and siRNA Kaiso 544. 30 hours post-transfection the cells were lysed and assayed for luciferase activity.

Results and Discussion

A.2. Kaiso does not repress transcription from the pGL3 Basic backbone vector.

Luciferase assay experiments using the 1748CD1 construct suggested that Kaiso is a transcriptional repressor of *cyclin D1* promoter. However, the possibility existed that the effects seen in the luciferase assays were due to the pGL3 Basic backbone vector and not the 1748CD1 partial *cyclin D1* promoter insert. To address this possibility Kaiso expression vector was co-transfected with the pGL3 Basic backbone vector into HeLa cells, which were assayed for luciferase expression 30 hours later. Luciferase expression levels did not change when Kaiso was co-transfected with pGL3 Basic, indicating that the results seen with the 1748CD1 construct were due to the presence of the 1748CD1 insert (Figure A-1).



Figure A-1: Kaiso overexpression has no effect on the empty pGL3 Basic vector. Kaiso expression vector was co-transfected along with the pGL3 Basic empty backbone vector to determine if Kaiso expression had any effect on luciferase expression in the absence of the 1748CD1 cyclin D1 promoter. Transfection of 1.0 μ g of Kaiso did not alter luciferase expression.

A.3. Kaiso mutant proteins repress the cyclin D1 promoter.

Kaiso mutant expression vectors were transfected into HeLa cells along with the 1748CD1 construct and luciferase expression levels were assessed. First pcDNA3h Δ POZ was ectopically expressed along with the *cyclin D1* promoter reporter, with the prediction that little to no change would be observed in luciferase expression levels. The POZ domain is known as a site where transcriptional co-repressors often bind, therefore we predicted that removal of the Kaiso POZ domain would inhibit Kaiso transcriptional repression of *cyclin D1*. Unexpectedly, deletion of the POZ domain did not inhibit Kaiso transcriptional repression of *cyclin D1*, but rather repressed the *cyclin D1* promoter 2-fold, at the same strength as wild type Kaiso (Figure A-2,A). This observation, although highly unexpected indicated that perhaps there are other repression domains located within the Kaiso sequence that are responsible for its transcriptional repression activities.

We next tested what effects of the Kaiso NLS mutant (hNLSm) on the cyclin D1 promoter. Again we predicted that ectopic expression of this Kaiso mutant would have no effect on the promoter, and again our results were contrary to our predictions. $1.0 \mu g$ of hNLSm repressed the cyclin D1 promoter 2-fold (Figure A-2,B), as potently as wild type Kaiso. This result suggested that perhaps Kaiso's effects on the cyclin D1 promoter is due to upstream cytoplasmic signaling that is then propagated in the nucleus. However, it is also plausible that the Kaiso NLS mutant protein is not completely restricted to the cytosol. Although the Kaiso NLS was extensively characterized previously (49), this was done with murine Kaiso, and current follow-up experiments

characterizing the human Kaiso NLS have not differentiated between endogenous and exogenous Kaiso.



Β.





A.4. Kaiso siRNA constructs have opposite effects on the cyclin D1 promoter.

Since the effects of Kaiso overexpression on the *cyclin D1* promoter were difficult to verify by conventional mutant protein overexpression control experiments, we decided to investigate the effects of Kaiso depletion using siRNA methodologies. We first utilized the plasmid-based siRNA Kaiso 3-1 construct, which targets Kaiso at nucleotides 1294-1012. Luciferase assays using this construct were very promising, showing a 2-fold de-repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter upon siRNA transfection (Figure A-3,A). However, immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments could not demonstrate any depletion of Kaiso at the protein level using this construct (Figure A-3,B). The siRNA Kaiso 3-1 construct was previously utilized in experiments in Cos-1 monkey fibrolasts (119), so the possibility existed that it may function in the context of monkey cells but not human cells.

We then generated a new siRNA Kaiso construct that targeted nucleotides 544-562 of human Kaiso; previous studies had determined that this siRNA efficiently depleted Kaiso levels (142). Immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments were first carried out to verify the efficacy of the siRNA Kaiso 544 plasmid in knocking down Kaiso levels. This plasmid-based system, induced efficient Kaiso depletion (Figure A-3,D), so luciferase assays were subsequently carried out. To our surprise, however, the siRNA Kaiso 544 construct *repressed* luciferase expression under control of the partial *cyclin D1* promoter almost 2-fold (Figure A-3,C). It is possible that in the luciferase assay system, Kaiso depletion by the siRNA Kaiso 544 construct is inefficient, disrupting Kaiso homodimers to enhance Kaiso repression activity. The opposite effects observed with these two different siRNA constructs is difficult to interpret or explain, and poses many questions about how siRNA depletion functions and whether it is a good tool for use in luciferase assays.



Figure A-3: SiRNA Kaiso constructs have opposing effects on luciferase expression. Plasmid vectors containing two different Kaiso siRNA target sequences were analyzed for their effects on the *cyclin D1* promoter. Co-transfection of the siRNA Kaiso 3-1 vector, targeting Kaiso nucleotides 1294-1012, along with the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* promoter reporter resulted in a 2-fold derepression of the *cyclin D1* promoter as predicted (A). However, immunoprecipitation and Western blot analysis did not demonstrate any decrease in Kaiso expression upon siRNA Kaiso 3-1 vector transfection (B). A second Kaiso siRNA sequence, targeting Kaiso nucleotides 544-562, was inserted into a plasmid vector and utilized in luciferase assays. Transfection of this Kaiso siRNA vector along with 1748CD1 resulted in a 70% repression of the *cyclin D1* promoter (C). Kaiso depletion at the protein level was verified by Immunoprecipitation and Western blot (D).

Appendix B: Supplemental Data

The data presented here are a summary of results obtained during the course of this thesis project that are beyond the scope of the project. However, these results may provide a basis for future research into Kaiso function.

Appendix B: Supplemental Data

Materials and Methods

B.1. Luciferase Assays.

At the beginning of this project the pcDNA3-Kaiso expression vector in house was of murine origin, and was used for luciferase assays as previously described. 0.2 μ g of reporter construct and up to 1.0 μ g of pcDNA3-Kaiso effector DNA were co-tranfected into HeLa cells using the ExGen-500 transfection reagent (MBI Fermentas). 30 hours post-transfection the cells were lysed and assayed for luciferase activity.

B.2. Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assays.

Murine GST-fusion Kaiso proteins were initially utilized for the EMSA experiments prior to our generation of human GST-fusion Kaiso proteins. The experiments described here utilize the murine-specific GST- Δ POZ, GST-ZF123, and GST- Δ POZ Δ ZF proteins, which are homologous in DNA-binding ability to their counterparts of the human protein. The remainder of the experimental procedure is the same as previously described for those carried out with the human GST-fusion proteins. Briefly 250 ng of purified GST-fusion murine Kaiso proteins were incubated at 37°C for 25 minutes and then incubated on ice for 30 minutes with radiolabelled *cyclin D1* promoter-derived probes. The samples were separated by polyacyrlamide gel electrophoresis and visualized by autoradiography.

Results and Discussion

B.3. Murine Kaiso activates cyclin D1 expression in HeLa cells

Our initial analyses of Kaiso effects on the *cyclin D1* promoter indicated that Kaiso was a transcriptional activator of this promoter (Figure B-1,A). This was an unexpected result since we had predicted that Kaiso would repress this gene; however, this was not an unprecedented result since Kaiso was recently established as an activator of the *rapsyn* gene in neuromuscular cells (108). However, a deeper investigation of our result demonstrated that it was specific to murine Kaiso overexpression in human HeLa cells. In this human cell line murine Kaiso proved to be an activator of the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* promoter reporter, up to 1.5-fold (Figure B-1,A). However, when expressed in the murine fibroblast cell line, NIH 3T3, murine Kaiso exhibited transcriptional repression effects on the 1748CD1 *cyclin D1* promoter reporter (Figure B-1,B). Moreover, when expressed in HeLa cells and co-tranfected with the 1MK2MK-CD1 KBS mutant partial *cyclin D1* promoter reporter construct, murine Kaiso was still able to activate the *cyclin D1* promoter (Figure B-2).




Figure B-1: Murine Kaiso exhibits different transcriptional activity in human vs. murine cell lines. The HeLa cell line was chosen for utilization in luciferase assays due to its high transfection efficiency. Murine Kaiso was co-transfected along with the 1748CD1 cyclin D1 promoter reporter construct and the HeLa cells were later assayed for luciferase expression. Murine Kaiso activated the cyclin D1 promoter 1.5-fold, contrary to our preditions that it would repress the promoter (A). To investigage this result, we next co-transfected murine Kaiso and 1748CD1 in the murine fibroblast cell line NIH 3T3. In this mouse cell line murine Kaiso repressed the cyclin D1 promoter almost 2-fold (B).



Figure B-2: Mutation of the KBS does not affect murine Kaiso regulation of the cyclin D1 promoter. The murine Kaiso expression construct was used in initial luciferase assays characterizing the 1MK2MK-CD1 KBS mutant cyclin D1 promoter reporter construct. These experiments reproducibly showed that murine Kaiso was still able to activate expression 1.6-fold from this construct although point mutations had been introduced into the two KBS.

At the same time of these intriguing findings another member of our lab was comparing the POZ domains of human and murine Kaiso. The POZ domains of POZ-ZF proteins are usually the site at which transcriptional co-repressors interact (69); these interactions are primarily controlled by specific amino acid residues within the POZ domain (69). Comparison of the human and murine POZ domains revealed that they differed at two key amino acid residues within the domain that have been established to direct co-repressor binding in other POZ proteins (Kevin Kelly, unpublished data and (69)). Specifically murine Kaiso contains an arginine residue at amino acid position 47 (R47), located within the POZ domain while human Kaiso contains a lysine residue at the same position (K47) (Kevin Kelly, unpublished data and (69)). Studies on the PLZF POZ domain established that R49 located within the POZ domain is key for directing its interaction with transcriptional co-repressors and determining the strength of its transcriptional repressor activities (69). Furthermore the Bcl-6 POZ domain contains a K47 residue, and was found to be a stronger transcriptional repressor than PLZF (69), suggesting that a similar phenomenon might be occurring with murine and human Kaiso.

This finding could explain our superfluous luciferase assay results utilizing the murine Kaiso expression construct. The murine POZ domain contains the R47 residue, suggesting that it is a less potent transcriptional repressor than human Kaiso, which contains the K47 residue. In the context of its expression in human cell lines, murine Kaiso may very well exhibit transcriptional activator characteristics due to a lack murine-specific transcriptional co-repressors or an inability to recruit human-specific co-

repressors. Lastly our finding that murine Kaiso was still able to elicit a response from the KBS mutant partial *cyclin D1* promoter, like its human counterpart, led us to speculate that in their respective systems murine and human Kaiso may have similar functions.

B.4. Murine Kaiso exhibits stronger binding to the cyclin D1 promoter than human Kaiso.

The original EMSA experiments investigating Kaiso DNA-binding specificity in the context of the cyclin D1 promoter were carried out using murine Kaiso GST-fusion proteins that had been constructed by a previous member of our lab. Murine specific GST-ΔPOZ, GST-ZF123, GST-ΔPOZΔZF, and GST only (Figure B-3,A) were incubated with radiolabelled wild type and mutant cyclin D1 promoter-derived probes as previously described. Initial experiments demonstrated that the murine Kaiso mutants efficiently bind the CD1-1118 probe (Figure B-3,B, left panel). Like its human counterpart, murine Kaiso is unable to bind a CD1-1118 probe with a single point mutation within the KBS (TCCTGCCA \rightarrow TCATGCCA) (Figure B-3B, right panel). However, unlike its human counterpart murine Kaiso is able to bind to the CD1+24 probe (Figure B-3,C, left panel). This weaker observed binding is than what with the is CD1-1118 probe and is predominantly observed with the ZF123 protein, but is still significantly noticeable and easily reproduced. Moreover, a $C \rightarrow A$ mutation within the CD1+24 KBS is insufficient for abolishing this binding (CTGCTA \rightarrow <u>A</u>TGCTA) (Figure B-3, C, centre panel); a G \rightarrow T mutation must be generated within this KBS before murine Kaiso binding can be diminished, however, is not completey abrogated (CTGCTA \rightarrow CTTCTA) (Figure B-3,C, right panel). Together these findings suggest that murine Kaiso may bind the KBS more efficiently than human Kaiso. The original CAST that identified the Kaiso sequence-specific DNA binding sequence was performed with murine Kaiso (20). The possibility exists that human Kaiso binds a slightly different sequence preferentially. Coupled with the luciferase assay results these observations allow for the speculation that human and murine Kaiso may differ significantly in function and even perhaps structure.

Figure B-3: Murine Kaiso binds both KBS of the cyclin D1 promoter in vitro. EMSA analyses were carried out using a panel of murine GST-Kaiso fusion proteins $m\Delta POZ\Delta ZF$, $m\Delta POZ$, and mZF123, and GST protein only. Prior to EMSA analysis the proteins were expressed and purified from BL21 bacterial cultures (A). The purified proteins were incubated with radiolabelled cyclin D1 promoter derived probes and the protein-DNA complexes were separated by gel electrophoresis. The murine Kaiso proteins bind efficiently to the CD1-1118 probe, and a single base pair mutation introduced into the KBS of this probe (TCATGCCA) completely abolishes this binding (B). Similary, murine Kaiso proteins were able to bind the CD1+24 probe, albeit at a lower affinity than their binding to CD1-1118 (C). A C \rightarrow A mutation within this KBS (ATGCTA) was not sufficient for abolishing mZF123 binding to this probe, and a G \rightarrow T mutation (CTTCTA) could inhibit but not completely abolish mZF123 binding (C).





B.5. Murine Kaiso associates with methylated cyclin D1 promoter probes.

In light of the differing observations of murine and human Kaiso KBS binding, a few small-scale experiments were initiated to investigate murine Kaiso methylated DNA binding. 250 ng of murine Kaiso protein construct was utilized in each experiment to keep consistency with previously utilized human Kaiso protein amounts. Not only were the murine Kaiso protein mutants able to bind the unmethylated *cyclin D1* promoter probes more efficiently than human Kaiso as seen in Figure B-3, they were was also able to bind the methylated wild type CD1+24 probe more efficiently than human Kaiso as well (Figure B-4). Furthermore, murine Kaiso binding to the methylated wild type CD1+24 probe was stronger than its binding to the same probe in the unmethylated state (Figure B-4).

These results suggest that murine Kaiso may have an overall higher affinity for DNA binding than human Kaiso. However, these results also raise the possibility that the protocol used for the purification and preparation of the murine and human Kaiso GST-fusion proteins may be better suited for murine Kaiso and may need further optimization for human Kaiso. Regardless of these implications it is clear that both human and murine Kaiso proteins bind methylated DNA and bind extremely well to methylated DNA fragments containing the KBS. This suggests the exciting possibility that for certain genes, such as *cyclin D1*, Kaiso binding to the KBS as well as to methylated DNA may co-ordinately function to induce transcriptional repression.



Figure B-4: Murine Kaiso binds methylated *cyclin D1* promoter-derived probes *in vitro*. The CD1+24 KBS is located within a predicted CpG island region of the *cyclin D1* promoter. Since murine Kaiso seemed to exhibit stronger DNA binding ability than human Kaiso we tested its ability to bind methylated DNA as well. The murine mZF123 binds the CD1+24 probe in the unmethylated state, but upon methylation of this probe, mZF123 as well as m Δ POZ binding increases significantly.

References

- 1. Aho, S., L. Levävsuo, O. Montonen, C. Kari, U. Rodeck, and J. Uitto. 2002. Specific sequences in p120ctn determine subcellular distribution of its multiple isoforms involved in cellular adhesion of normal and malignant epithelial cells. Journal of Cell Science 115:1391-1402.
- 2. **Albagli, O., P. Dhordain, C. Deweindt, G. Lecocq, and D. Leprince.** 1995. The BTB/POZ Domain: A New Protein-Protein Interaction Motif Common to DNA-and Actin-binding Proteins. Cell Growth and Differentiation **6:**1193-1198.
- 3. Alle, K., S. Henshall, A. Field, and R. Sutherland. 1998. Cyclin D1 protein is overexpressed in hyperplasia and intraductal carcinoma of the breast. Clinical Cancer Research 4:847-854.
- 4. **Anastasiadis, P. Z., and A. B. Reynolds.** 2000. The p120 catenin family: complex roles in adhesion, signaling and cancer. Journal of Cell Science **113:**1319-1334.
- 5. **Anastasiadis, P. Z., and A. B. Reynolds.** 2001. Regulation of Rho GTPases by p120-catenin. Current Opinion in Cell Biology **13:**604-610.
- 6. **Andl, C. D., and A. K. Rustgi.** 2005. No one-way street: cross-talk between ecadherin and receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) signaling: a mechanism to regulate RTK activity. Cancer Biol Ther **4:**28-31.
- Aono, S., S. Nakagawa, A. B. Reynolds, and M. Takeichi. 1999. p120(ctn) acts as an inhibitory regulator of cadherin function in colon carcinoma cells. J Cell Biol 145:551-62.
- 8. **Bardwell, V. J., and R. Treisman.** 1994. The POZ domain: A conserved proteinprotein interaction motif. Genes and Development **8**:1664-1667.
- 9. **Behrens, J.** 1999. Cadherins and catenins: role in signal transduction and tumor progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev **18:**15-30.
- Behrens, J., L. Vakaet, R. Friis, E. Winterhager, F. Van Roy, M. M. Mareel, and W. Birchmeier. 1993. Loss of epithelial differentiation and gain of invasiveness correlates with tyrosine phosphorylation of the E-cadherin/betacatenin complex in cells transformed with a temperature-sensitive v-SRC gene. J Cell Biol 120:757-66.
- Berx, G., F. Nollet, and F. van Roy. 1998. Dysregulation of the Ecadherin/catenin complex by irreversible mutations in human carcinomas. Cell Adhes Commun 6:171-84.
- 12. **Birchmeier, W., and J. Behrens.** 1994. Cadherin expression in carcinomas: role in the formation of cell junctions and the prevention of invasiveness. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta **1198:**11-26.
- Bowen, H., A. Lapham, E. Phillips, I. Yeung, M. Alter-Koltunoff, B. Z. Levi, V. H. Perry, D. A. Mann, and C. H. Barton. 2003. Characterization of the murine Nramp1 promoter: requirements for transactivation by Miz-1. J Biol Chem 278:36017-26.

- 14. Brennan, K. R., and A. M. Brown. 2004. Wnt proteins in mammary development and cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 9:119-31.
- 15. Buckley, F., K. Sweeney, J. Hamilton, R. Sini, D. Manning, R. Nicholson, A. deFazio, C. Watts, E. Musgrove, and R. Sutherland. 1993. Expression and Amplifcation of cyclin genes in human breast cancer. Oncogene 8:2127-2213.
- 16. **Butz, S., J. Stappert, H. Weissig, and R. Kemler.** 1992. Plakoglobin and betacatenin: distinct but closely related. Science **257:**1142-4.
- Chappuis-Flament, S., E. Wong, L. D. Hicks, C. M. Kay, and B. M. Gumbiner. 2001. Multiple cadherin extracellular repeats mediate homophilic binding and adhesion. J Cell Biol 154:231-43.
- 18. Chen, X., S. Kojima, G. G. Borisy, and K. J. Green. 2003. p120 catenin associates with kinesin and facilitates the transport of cadherin-catenin complexes to intercellular junctions. J Cell Biol 163:547-57.
- Crawford, H. C., B. M. Fingleton, L. A. Rudolph-Owen, K. J. Goss, B. Rubinfeld, P. Polakis, and L. M. Matrisian. 1999. The metalloproteinase matrilysin is a target of beta-catenin transactivation in intestinal tumors. Oncogene 18:2883-91.
- 20. **Daniel, J. M., and A. B. Reynolds.** 1999. The Catenin p120^{ctn} Interacts with Kaiso, a Novel BTB/POZ Domain Zinc Finger Transcription Factor. Molecular and Cellular Biology **19:**3614-3623.
- 21. **Daniel, J. M., and A. B. Reynolds.** 1995. The tyrosine kinase substrate p120cas binds directly to E-cadherin but not to the adenomatous polyposis coli protein or alpha-catenin. Mol Cell Biol **15**:4819-24.
- 22. **Daniel, J. M., and A. B. Reynolds.** 1997. Tyrosine phosphorylation and cadherin/catenin function. BioEssays **19:**883-891.
- 23. **Daniel, J. M., C. M. Spring, H. C. Crawford, and A. B. Reynolds.** 2002. The p120^{ctn}-binding partner Kaiso is a bi-modal DNA-binding protein that recognizes both a sequence-specific consensus and methylated CpG dinucleotides. Nucleic Acids Research **30**:2911-2919.
- 24. **Davis, M., R. Ireton, and A. Reynolds.** 2003. A core function for p120-catenin in cadherin turnover. Journal of Cell Biology **163**:525-534.
- Dillon, D. A., T. D'Aquila, A. B. Reynolds, E. R. Fearon, and D. L. Rimm.
 1998. The Expression of p120ctn Protein in Breast Cancer Is Independent of αand β-Catenin and E-Cadherin. American Journal of Pathology 152:75-82.
- 26. **Downing, J. R., and A. B. Reynolds.** 1991. PDGF, CSF-1, and EGF induce tyrosine phosphorylation of p120, a pp60src transformation-associated substrate. Oncogene **6:**607-13.
- 27. Elzi, D., C. M. Spring, J. M. Daniel, and R. Eisenman. In preparation. Kaiso interacts with the HDAC and sin transcriptional repressor machinery.
- 28. **Finnemann, S., I. Mitrik, M. Hess, G. Otto, and D. Wedlich.** 1997. Uncoupling of XB/U-cadherin-catenin complex formation from its function in cell-cell adhesion. J Biol Chem **272:**11856-62.

- 29. Fogal, V., N. N. Kartasheva, G. Trigiante, S. Llanos, D. Yap, K. H. Vousden, and X. Lu. 2005. ASPP1 and ASPP2 are new transcriptional targets of E2F. Cell Death Differ 12:369-76.
- Franz, C. M., and A. J. Ridley. 2004. p120 catenin associates with microtubules: inverse relationship between microtubule binding and Rho GTPase regulation. J Biol Chem 279:6588-94.
- 31. **Gille, H., and J. Downward.** 1999. Multiple ras effector pathways contribute to G(1) cell cycle progression. J Biol Chem **274:**22033-40.
- 32. **Guilford, P.** 1999. E-cadherin downregulation in cancer: fuel on the fire? Mol Med Today **5**:172-7.
- 33. **Gumbiner, B. M.** 1996. Cell adhesion: the molecular basis of tissue architecture and morphogenesis. Cell **84:**345-57.
- 34. He, T. C., A. B. Sparks, C. Rago, H. Hermeking, L. Zawel, L. T. da Costa, P. J. Morin, B. Vogelstein, and K. W. Kinzler. 1998. Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. Science 281:1509-12.
- 35. He, X., M. Semenov, K. Tamai, and X. Zeng. 2004. LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: arrows point the way. Development 131:1663-77.
- 36. Herrenknecht, K., M. Ozawa, C. Eckerskorn, F. Lottspeich, M. Lenter, and R. Kemler. 1991. The uvomorulin-anchorage protein alpha catenin is a vinculin homologue. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:9156-60.
- 37. Hiraguri, S., T. Godfrey, H. Nakamura, J. Graff, C. Collins, L. Shayesteh, N. Doggett, K. Johnson, M. Wheelock, J. Herman, S. Baylin, D. Pinkel, and J. Gray. 1998. Mechanisms of inactivation of E-cadherin in breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 58:1972-7.
- Hoshino, T., T. Sakisaka, T. Baba, T. Yamada, T. Kimura, and Y. Takai.
 2005. Regulation of E-cadherin endocytosis by nectin through afadin, Rap1, and p120ctn. J Biol Chem 280:24095-103.
- 39. Huber, O., C. Bierkamp, and R. Kemler. 1996. Cadherins and catenins in development. Curr Opin Cell Biol 8:685-91.
- 40. Hunt, K. K., J. Deng, T. J. Liu, M. Wilson-Heiner, S. G. Swisher, G. Clayman, and M. C. Hung. 1997. Adenovirus-mediated overexpression of the transcription factor E2F-1 induces apoptosis in human breast and ovarian carcinoma cell lines and does not require p53. Cancer Res **57:**4722-6.
- 41. **Ikeda, K., and S. Inoue.** 2004. Estrogen receptors and their downstream targets in cancer. Arch Histol Cytol **67:**435-42.
- 42. Ireton, R. C., M. A. Davis, J. van Hengel, D. J. Mariner, K. Barnes, M. A. Thoreson, P. Z. Anastasiadis, L. Matrisian, L. M. Bundy, L. Sealy, B. Gilbert, F. van Roy, and A. B. Reynolds. 2002. A novel role for p120 catenin in E-cadherin function. The Journal of Cell Biology 159:465-476.
- 43. **Iuchi, S.** 2001. Three classes of C2H2 zinc finger proteins. Cell Mol Life Sci **58**:625-35.

- 44. **Jiang, W., S. M. Kahn, N. Tomita, Y. J. Zhang, S. H. Lu, and I. B. Weinstein.** 1992. Amplification and expression of the human cyclin D gene in esophageal cancer. Cancer Res **52:**2980-3.
- 45. Johnson, D. G., J. K. Schwarz, W. D. Cress, and J. R. Nevins. 1993. Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. Nature **365:**349-52.
- 46. Joyce, D., B. Bouzahzah, M. Fu, C. Albanese, M. D'Amico, J. Steer, J. U. Klein, R. J. Lee, J. E. Segall, J. K. Westwick, C. J. Der, and R. G. Pestell. 1999. Integration of Rac-dependent regulation of cyclin D1 transcription through a nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 274:25245-9.
- 47. **Kaplan, J., and K. Calame.** 1997. The ZiN/POZ domain of ZF5 is required for both transcriptional activation and repression. Nucleic Acids Res **25:**1108-16.
- Keirsebilck, A., S. Bonné, K. Staes, J. van Hengel, F. Nollet, A. B. Reynolds, and F. van Roy. 1998. Molecular cloning of the human p120ctn catenin gene (CTNND1): Expression of multiple alternatively spliced isoforms. Genomics 50:129-146.
- 49. Kelly, K. F., A. A. Otchere, M. Graham, and J. M. Daniel. 2004. Nuclear import of the BTB/POZ transcriptional regulator Kaiso. J Cell Sci 117:6143-52.
- 50. Kelly, K. F., C. M. Spring, A. A. Otchere, and J. M. Daniel. 2004. NLSdependent nuclear localization of p120^{ctn} is necessary to relieve Kaiso-mediated transcriptional repression. Journal of Cell Science Online May 12.
- 51. Kemler, R., and M. Ozawa. 1989. Uvomorulin-catenin complex: cytoplasmic anchorage of a Ca2+-dependent cell adhesion molecule. Bioessays 11:88-91.
- 52. Kim, S., J. Park, C. Spring, A. Sater, H. Ji, A. Otchere, J. Daniel, and P. McCrea. 2004. Non-canonical Wnt signals are modulated by the Kaiso transcriptional repressor and p120-catenin. Nature Cell Biology 6:1212-20.
- 53. Kim, S. W., X. Fang, H. Ji, A. F. Paulson, J. M. Daniel, M. Ciesiolka, F. van Roy, and P. D. McCrea. 2002. Isolation and characterization of XKaiso, a transcriptional repressor that associates with the catenin Xp120(ctn) in Xenopus laevis. J Biol Chem 277:8202-8.
- 54. Kime, L., and S. C. Wright. 2003. Mad4 is regulated by a transcriptional repressor complex that contains Miz-1 and c-Myc. Biochem J **370**:291-8.
- 55. Kinch, M. S., L. Petch, C. Zhong, and K. Burridge. 1997. E-cadherin engagement stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation. Cell Adhes Commun 4:425-37.
- 56. **Kitazawa, S., R. Kitazawa, and S. Maeda.** 1999. Transcriptional regulation of rat cyclin D1 gene by CpG methylation status in promoter region. J Biol Chem **274:**28787-93.
- 57. Knudsen, K. A., and M. J. Wheelock. 1992. Plakoglobin, or an 83-kD homologue distinct from beta-catenin, interacts with E-cadherin and N-cadherin. J Cell Biol 118:671-9.
- 58. Koch, A. W., S. Pokutta, A. Lustig, and J. Engel. 1997. Calcium binding and homoassociation of E-cadherin domains. Biochemistry **36**:7697-705.
- 59. Kosik, K. S., C. P. Donahue, I. Israely, X. Liu, and T. Ochiishi. 2005. Deltacatenin at the synaptic-adherens junction. Trends Cell Biol 15:172-8.

- 60. Kowalik, T. F., J. DeGregori, J. K. Schwarz, and J. R. Nevins. 1995. E2F1 overexpression in quiescent fibroblasts leads to induction of cellular DNA synthesis and apoptosis. J Virol **69:**2491-500.
- 61. Lai, Z. C., M. Fetchko, and Y. Li. 1997. Repression of Drosophila photoreceptor cell fate through cooperative action of two transcriptional repressors Yan and Tramtrack. Genetics **147**:1131-7.
- 62. Liu, H., J. Wang, and E. M. Epner. 2004. Cyclin D1 activation in B-cell malignancy: association with changes in histone acetylation, DNA methylation, and RNA polymerase II binding to both promoter and distal sequences. Blood 104:2505-13.
- 63. Logan, C. Y., and R. Nusse. 2004. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 20:781-810.
- 64. **Mariner, D. J., P. Z. Anastasiadis, H. Keilhack, F.-D. Böhmer, J. Wang, and A. B. Reynolds.** 2001. Identification of Src Phosphorylation Sites in the Catenin p120^{ctn}. The Journal of Biological Chemistry **276**:28006-28013.
- 65. Matsuyoshi, N., M. Hamaguchi, S. Taniguchi, A. Nagafuchi, S. Tsukita, and M. Takeichi. 1992. Cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion is perturbed by v-src tyrosine phosphorylation in metastatic fibroblasts. J Cell Biol **118**:703-14.
- 66. **Matthews, J. M., and M. Sunde.** 2002. Zinc fingers--folds for many occasions. IUBMB Life **54:**351-5.
- 67. McCawley, L. J., and L. M. Matrisian. 2001. Matrix metalloproteinases: they're not just for matrix anymore! Curr Opin Cell Biol 13:534-40.
- 68. McCrea, P. D., C. W. Turck, and B. Gumbiner. 1991. A homolog of the armadillo protein in Drosophila (plakoglobin) associated with E-cadherin. Science **254**:1359-61.
- 69. Melnick, A., K. F. Ahmad, S. Arai, A. Polinger, H. Ball, K. L. Borden, G. W. Carlile, G. G. Prive, and J. D. Licht. 2000. In-depth mutational analysis of the promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger BTB/POZ domain reveals motifs and residues required for biological and transcriptional functions. Mol Cell Biol **20**:6550-67.
- 70. **Moriyama, M., T. Yamochi, K. Semba, T. Akiyama, and S. Mori.** 1997. BCL-6 is phosphorylated at multiple sites in its serine- and proline-clustered region by mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) in vivo. Oncogene **14**:2465-74.
- Motokura, T., T. Bloom, H. G. Kim, H. Juppner, J. V. Ruderman, H. M. Kronenberg, and A. Arnold. 1991. A novel cyclin encoded by a bcl1-linked candidate oncogene. Nature 350:512-5.
- 72. **Nagafuchi, A., and M. Takeichi.** 1988. Cell binding function of E-cadherin is regulated by the cytoplasmic domain. Embo J **7:**3679-84.
- 73. **Nagafuchi, A., and M. Takeichi.** 1989. Transmembrane control of cadherinmediated cell adhesion: a 94 kDa protein functionally associated with a specific region of the cytoplasmic domain of E-cadherin. Cell Regul **1:**37-44.
- 74. **Nagafuchi, A., M. Takeichi, and S. Tsukita.** 1991. The 102 kd cadherinassociated protein: similarity to vinculin and posttranscriptional regulation of expression. Cell **65**:849-57.

- 75. **Nagar, B., M. Overduin, M. Ikura, and J. M. Rini.** 1996. Structural basis of calcium-induced E-cadherin rigidification and dimerization. Nature **380:**360-4.
- 76. **Navarro, P., L. Ruco, and E. Dejana.** 1998. Differential localization of VE- and N-cadherins in human endothelial cells: VE-cadherin competes with N-cadherin for junctional localization. J Cell Biol **140:**1475-84.
- Nip, J., D. K. Strom, B. E. Fee, G. Zambetti, J. L. Cleveland, and S. W. Hiebert. 1997. E2F-1 cooperates with topoisomerase II inhibition and DNA damage to selectively augment p53-independent apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17:1049-56.
- 78. Niu, H., B. H. Ye, and R. Dalla-Favera. 1998. Antigen receptor signaling induces MAP kinase-mediated phosphorylation and degradation of the BCL-6 transcription factor. Genes Dev 12:1953-61.
- 79. Nobes, C. D., and A. Hall. 1995. Rho, rac and cdc42 GTPases: regulators of actin structures, cell adhesion and motility. Biochem Soc Trans 23:456-9.
- 80. Noren, N. K., B. P. Liu, K. Burridge, and B. Kreft. 2000. p120 catenin regulates the actin cytoskeleton via Rho family GTPases. J Cell Biol **150**:567-80.
- 81. Nusse, R. 2005. Whit signaling in disease and in development. Cell Res 15:28-32.
- 82. Olson, M. F., A. Ashworth, and A. Hall. 1995. An essential role for Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 GTPases in cell cycle progression through G1. Science **269**:1270-2.
- 83. Ormandy, C., E. Musgrove, R. Hui, R. Daly, and R. Sutherland. 2003. Cyclin D1, EMS1 and 11q13 amplication in human breast cancers. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 78:323-335.
- 84. **Otchere, A. A.** 2003. Characterization of the Kaiso-p120 interaction in breast tumour cell lines. McMaster, Hamilton.
- 85. **Ozawa, M., H. Baribault, and R. Kemler.** 1989. The cytoplasmic domain of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin associates with three independent proteins structurally related in different species. Embo J **8:**1711-7.
- 86. **Ozawa, M., M. Ringwald, and R. Kemler.** 1990. Uvomorulin-catenin complex formation is regulated by a specific domain in the cytoplasmic region of the cell adhesion molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **87:**4246-50.
- 87. **Papkoff, J.** 1997. Regulation of complexed and free catenin pools by distinct mechanisms. Differential effects of Wnt-1 and v-Src. J Biol Chem **272:**4536-43.
- 88. Park, J., S. Kim, J. Lyons, H. Ji, T. Nguyen, K. Cho, M. Barton, T. Deroo, K. Vleminckx, and P. McCrea. 2005. Kaiso/p120-catenin and TCF/beta-catenin complexes coordinately regulate canonical Wnt gene targets. Developmental Cell 8:843-54.
- Peifer, M. 1997. β-Catenin as Oncogene: The Smoking Gun. Science 275:1752-1753.
- 90. **Peifer, M., S. Berg, and A. B. Reynolds.** 1994. A repeating amino acid motif shared by proteins with diverse cellular roles. Cell **76**:789-91.
- 91. Pertz, O., D. Bozic, A. W. Koch, C. Fauser, A. Brancaccio, and J. Engel.
 1999. A new crystal structure, Ca2+ dependence and mutational analysis reveal molecular details of E-cadherin homoassociation. Embo J 18:1738-47.

- 92. Phillips, A. C., S. Bates, K. M. Ryan, K. Helin, and K. H. Vousden. 1997. Induction of DNA synthesis and apoptosis are separable functions of E2F-1. Genes Dev 11:1853-63.
- 93. **Pokutta, S., K. Herrenknecht, R. Kemler, and J. Engel.** 1994. Conformational changes of the recombinant extracellular domain of E-cadherin upon calcium binding. Eur J Biochem **223**:1019-26.
- 94. Prokhortchouk, A., B. Hendrich, H. Jørgensen, A. Ruzov, M. Wilm, G. Georgiev, A. Bird, and E. Prokhortchouk. 2001. The p120 catenin partner Kaiso is a DNA methylation-dependent transcriptional repressor. Genes and Development 15:1613-1618.
- 95. Prokhortchouk, A., O. Sansom, J. Selfridge, I. M. Caballero, S. Salozhin, D. Aithozhina, L. Cerchietti, F. G. Meng, L. H. Augenlicht, J. M. Mariadason, B. Hendrich, A. Melnick, E. Prokhortchouk, A. Clarke, and A. Bird. 2006. Kaiso-deficient mice show resistance to intestinal cancer. Mol Cell Biol 26:199-208.
- 96. Qin, X. Q., D. M. Livingston, W. G. Kaelin, Jr., and P. D. Adams. 1994. Deregulated transcription factor E2F-1 expression leads to S-phase entry and p53mediated apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:10918-22.
- 97. Qiu, R. G., J. Chen, D. Kirn, F. McCormick, and M. Symons. 1995. An essential role for Rac in Ras transformation. Nature **374:**457-9.
- 98. **Ranscht, B.** 1994. Cadherins and catenins: interactions and functions in embryonic development. Curr Opin Cell Biol **6:**740-6.
- 99. Reid, G., R. Metivier, C. Y. Lin, S. Denger, D. Ibberson, T. Ivacevic, H. Brand, V. Benes, E. T. Liu, and F. Gannon. 2005. Multiple mechanisms induce transcriptional silencing of a subset of genes, including oestrogen receptor alpha, in response to deacetylase inhibition by valproic acid and trichostatin A. Oncogene 24:4894-907.
- 100. Reynolds, A. B., J. M. Daniel, P. D. McCrea, M. J. Wheelock, J. Wu, and Z. Zhang. 1994. Identification of a new catenin: The tyrosine kinase substrate p120cas associates with E-cadherin complexes. Molecular and Cellular Biology 14:8333-8342.
- 101. **Reynolds, A. B., J. M. Daniel, Y. Y. Mo, J. Wu, and Z. Zhang.** 1996. The novel catenin p120cas binds classical cadherins and induces an unusual morphological phenotype in NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Exp Cell Res **225**:328-37.
- 102. Reynolds, A. B., L. Herbert, J. L. Cleveland, S. T. Berg, and J. R. Gaut. 1992. p120, a novel substrate of protein tyrosine kinase receptors and of p60v-src, is related to cadherin-binding factors beta-catenin, plakoglobin, and armadillo. Oncogene 7:2439-2445.
- 103. **Reynolds, A. B., and A. Roczniak-Ferguson.** 2004. Emerging roles for p120catenin in cell adhesion and cancer. Oncogene **23:**7947-56.
- 104. Reynolds, A. B., D. J. Roesel, S. B. Kanner, and J. T. Parsons. 1989. Transformation-specific tyrosine phosphorylation of a novel cellular protein in chicken cells expressing oncogenic variants of the avian cellular src gene. Mol Cell Biol 9:629-38.

- 105. **Ridley, A. J.** 2001. Rho family proteins: coordinating cell responses. Trends Cell Biol **11:471-7**.
- 106. Rockman, S. P., S. A. Currie, M. Ciavarella, E. Vincan, C. Dow, R. J. Thomas, and W. A. Phillips. 2001. Id2 is a target of the beta-catenin/T cell factor pathway in colon carcinoma. J Biol Chem 276:45113-9.
- 107. Roczniak-Ferguson, A., and A. B. Reynolds. 2003. Regulation of p120-catenin nucleocytoplasmic shuttling activity. J Cell Sci 116:4201-12.
- 108. Rodova, M., K. F. Kelly, M. VanSaun, J. M. Daniel, and M. J. Werle. 2004. Regulation of the rapsyn promoter by kaiso and delta-catenin. Mol Cell Biol 24:7188-96.
- 109. Ruzov, A., D. S. Dunican, A. Prokhortchouk, S. Pennings, I. Stancheva, E. Prokhortchouk, and R. R. Meehan. 2004. Kaiso is a genome-wide repressor of transcription that is essential for amphibian development. Development 131:6185-94.
- 110. Sarrio, D., B. Perez-Mies, D. Hardisson, G. Moreno-Bueno, A. Suarez, A. Cano, J. Martin-Perez, C. Gamaloo, and J. Palacios. 2004. Cytoplasmic localization of p120ctn and E-cadherin loss characterize lobular breast carcinoma from preinvasive to metastatic lesions. Oncogene:1-12.
- 111. Session, F. C. L. 2005. Presented at the American Association for Cancer Research Special Workshop, Snowmass Village, CO.
- 112. Shan, W., Y. Yagita, Z. Wang, A. Koch, A. F. Svenningsen, E. Gruzglin, L. Pedraza, and D. R. Colman. 2004. The minimal essential unit for cadherinmediated intercellular adhesion comprises extracellular domains 1 and 2. J Biol Chem 279:55914-23.
- Shapiro, L., A. M. Fannon, P. D. Kwong, A. Thompson, M. S. Lehmann, G. Grubel, J. F. Legrand, J. Als-Nielsen, D. R. Colman, and W. A. Hendrickson. 1995. Structural basis of cell-cell adhesion by cadherins. Nature 374:327-37.
- 114. Shibamoto, S., M. Hayakawa, K. Takeuchi, T. Hori, N. Oku, K. Miyazawa, N. Kitamura, M. Takeichi, and F. Ito. 1994. Tyrosine phosphorylation of betacatenin and plakoglobin enhanced by hepatocyte growth factor and epidermal growth factor in human carcinoma cells. Cell Adhes Commun 1:295-305.
- 115. Shiozaki, H., T. Kadowaki, Y. Doki, M. Inoue, S. Tamura, H. Oka, T. Iwazawa, S. Matsui, K. Shimaya, M. Takeichi, and et al. 1995. Effect of epidermal growth factor on cadherin-mediated adhesion in a human oesophageal cancer cell line. Br J Cancer 71:250-8.
- 116. Simpson, J., D. Quan, F. O'Malley, T. Odom-Maryon, and P. Clarke. 1997. Amplification of CCND1 and expression of its protein product, cyclin D1, in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. American Journal of Pathology 151:161-168.
- 117. Skoudy, A., M. D. Llosas, and A. Garcia de Herreros. 1996. Intestinal HT-29 cells with dysfunction of E-cadherin show increased pp60src activity and tyrosine phosphorylation of p120-catenin. Biochem J **317** (**Pt 1**):279-84.
- 118. Soubry, A., J. van Hengel, E. Parthoens, C. Colpaert, E. Van Marck, D. Waltregny, A. B. Reynolds, and F. van Roy. 2005. Expression and nuclear

location of the transcriptional repressor Kaiso is regulated by the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Res **65:**2224-33.

- Spring, C. M., K. F. Kelly, I. O'Kelly, M. Graham, H. C. Crawford, and J. M. Daniel. 2005. The catenin p120ctn inhibits Kaiso-mediated transcriptional repression of the beta-catenin/TCF target gene matrilysin. Experimental Cell Research 305:253-65.
- 120. **Stacey, D.** 2003. Cyclin D1 serves as a cell cycle regulatory switch in actively proliferating cells. Current Opinion in Cell Biology **15**:158-163.
- 121. **Stappert, J., and R. Kemler.** 1994. A short core region of E-cadherin is essential for catenin binding and is highly phosphorylated. Cell Adhes Commun **2:**319-27.
- 122. Suo, Z., H. S. Berner, B. Risberg, M. G. Karlsson, and J. M. Nesland. 2001. Estrogen receptor-alpha and C-ERBB-4 expression in breast carcinomas. Virchows Arch 439:62-9.
- 123. Sutherland, R., and E. Musgrove. 2004. Cyclins and Breast Cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 9:95-104.
- 124. Tamura, K., W. S. Shan, W. A. Hendrickson, D. R. Colman, and L. Shapiro. 1998. Structure-function analysis of cell adhesion by neural (N-) cadherin. Neuron 20:1153-63.
- 125. **Tang, A. H., T. P. Neufeld, E. Kwan, and G. M. Rubin.** 1997. PHYL acts to down-regulate TTK88, a transcriptional repressor of neuronal cell fates, by a SINA-dependent mechanism. Cell **90:**459-67.
- 126. **Tetsu, O., and F. McCormick.** 1999. β-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. Nature **398:**422-426.
- 127. Thoreson, M. A., P. Z. Anastasiadis, J. M. Daniel, R. C. Ireton, M. J. Wheelock, K. r. Johnson, D. K. Hummingbird, and A. B. Reynolds. 2000. Selective Uncoupling of p120^{ctn} from E-cadherin Disrupts Strong Adhesion. The Journal of Cell Biology 148:189-201.
- 128. **van Hengel, J., P. Vanhoenacker, K. Staes, and F. van Roy.** 1999. Nuclear localization of the p120^{ctn} Armadillo-like catenin is counteracted by a nuclear export signal and by E-cadherin expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) **96**:7980-7985.
- 129. Vigo, E., H. Muller, E. Prosperini, G. Hateboer, P. Cartwright, M. C. Moroni, and K. Helin. 1999. CDC25A phosphatase is a target of E2F and is required for efficient E2F-induced S phase. Mol Cell Biol 19:6379-95.
- Wahl, J. K., 3rd, Y. J. Kim, J. M. Cullen, K. R. Johnson, and M. J.
 Wheelock. 2003. N-cadherin-catenin complexes form prior to cleavage of the proregion and transport to the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 278:17269-76.
- 131. Wang, T., R. Cardiff, L. Zukerberg, E. Lees, A. Arnold, and E. Schmidt. 1994. Mammary hyperplasia and carcinoma in MMTV-cyclin D1 transgenic mice. Nature 369:669-71.
- 132. Wheelock, M. J., and K. A. Knudsen. 1991. Cadherins and associated proteins. In Vivo 5:505-13.
- 133. Willmann, R., and C. Fuhrer. 2002. Neuromuscular synaptogenesis: clustering of acetylcholine receptors revisited. Cell Mol Life Sci **59**:1296-316.

- 134. Wolfe, S. A., L. Nekludova, and C. O. Pabo. 2000. DNA recognition by Cys2His2 zinc finger proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct **29**:183-212.
- 135. Wu, J., D. J. Mariner, M. A. Thoreson, and A. B. Reynolds. 1998. Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies to the catenin p120ctn. Hybridoma 17:175-183.
- 136. Wu, S., C. Cetinkaya, M. J. Munoz-Alonso, N. von der Lehr, F. Bahram, V. Beuger, M. Eilers, J. Leon, and L. G. Larsson. 2003. Myc represses differentiation-induced p21CIP1 expression via Miz-1-dependent interaction with the p21 core promoter. Oncogene 22:351-60.
- 137. Wu, X., and A. J. Levine. 1994. p53 and E2F-1 cooperate to mediate apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:3602-6.
- Xia, X. 2003. Presented at the American Society for Cell Biology, San Francisco, CA.
- 139. Xiao, K., J. Garner, K. M. Buckley, P. A. Vincent, C. M. Chiasson, E. Dejana, V. Faundez, and A. P. Kowalczyk. 2005. p120-Catenin regulates clathrin-dependent endocytosis of VE-cadherin. Mol Biol Cell 16:5141-51.
- Yap, A. S., W. M. Brieher, and B. M. Gumbiner. 1997. Molecular and functional analysis of cadherin-based adherens junctions. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 13:119-46.
- 141. **Yap, A. S., C. M. Niessen, and B. M. Gumbiner.** 1998. The juxtamembrane region of the cadherin cytoplasmic tail supports lateral clustering, adhesive strengthening, and interaction with p120ctn. J Cell Biol **141**:779-89.
- 142. Yoon, H. G., D. W. Chan, A. B. Reynolds, J. Qin, and J. Wong. 2003. N-CoR mediates DNA methylation-dependent repression through a methyl CpG binding protein Kaiso. Mol Cell 12:723-34.
- 143. Yoshimura, M., Y. Ihara, Y. Matsuzawa, and T. Naoyuki. 1996. Aberrant glycosylation of E-cadherin enhances cell-cell binding to suppress metastasis. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 271:13811-13815.
- 144. Yu, Q., Y. Geng, and P. Sicinski. 2001. Specific protection against breast cancers by cyclin D1 ablation. Nature 411:1017-1021.
- Zhurinsky, J., M. Shtutman, and A. Ben-Ze'ev. 2000. Plakoglobin and betacatenin: protein interactions, regulation and biological roles. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 18):3127-39.